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Message from the
Chief Executive Officer
and Chief Product & Technology Officer

Dear Shareholders,

As we celebrate ixigo’s 16th anniversary, we express our sincere gratitude to all the stakeholders 
who have been instrumental in our journey thus far. Without their steadfast support, we would not 
have achieved the milestones we celebrate today. With a deep-rooted passion for empowering 
Indian travellers, our company was founded with the mission of providing travelers with cutting-
edge technology to plan, book, and effectively manage their trips and we have made significant 
advancements in revolutionizing the travel experience. We remain committed on our mission to 
become the most customer-centric travel company, by offering the best customer experience 
to our users. The way we achieve our stated mission is by building products and services which 
reduce the pain points that our customers face during their travel. Starting with the launch of a 
flight meta-search engine for Indian travellers, we extended our services to cater to the train travel 
market with the launch of our train-focused app in 2013. All our product innovations from sharing 
valuable crowd-sourced information for the underserved train travel market,  providing confirmed 
bookings through our intelligent alternate travel recommendations (ixigo’s “Train Jugaad” / 
ConfirmTkt’s “Alternates”), our no-questions-asked instant refund programme (“ixigo Assured”), 
our industry-first free modification / free cancellation product (“ixigo Assured Flex”), bus service 
level guarantee programme (“Abhi Assured”) to “TARA” our AI-based customer service chatbot 
and many more, underscore our commitment to putting technology and AI at the forefront of our 
operations. Our strategy for revenue generation is aligned with this vision, where we prioritize 
solving genuine customer pain points, which in turn generates value, and subsequently leads to 
revenue monetization. 

As stated in our mission, we have been focused on providing a delightful customer experience. 
We processed refunds on time at the peak of COVID, refunding several crores even before some 
airlines gave us back the money. We maintain the highest levels of responsiveness and empathy 
across our customer support touchpoints, and we build products that pre-emptively address 
travellers’ needs to avoid anxiety while traveling. All these strengthened our brand loyalty and 
helped us grow and bounce back faster. 

All these initiatives have helped us become India’s 2nd largest OTA by Net Operating Revenue 
and the most downloaded OTA app in the travel category in India. 

Industry and Company Growth Overview

As expected, FY 2023 has been a bounce-back year for the travel industry across all segments 
of our business. By the end of FY 2023, the overall travel market had surpassed pre-COVID levels 
despite significant supply-side challenges and higher ticket prices. During May 2023 domestic 
passenger air traffic was 13.2 million, surpassing May 2019 traffic by over 8%. Other segments 
of the travel industry including buses, trains and hotels are also sitting at all-time high levels in 
terms of GTV and revenue and continue to witness growth. Our growth this year in the trains 
category was despite a large share of 2S category capacity that had been added during COVID 
being discontinued and reverting to a pre-COVID share of the 2S bookings by August 2022.
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use AI and ML for dynamic pricing, continue to 
provide convenience to our customers while 
ensuring monetization and profitability for our 
business. 

Our growth milestones
In addition to our remarkable scale, there are 
a few other significant milestones that we 
have achieved. As of March 2023, our group 
surpassed an impressive milestone, reaching 
over 66 million cumulative monthly active users 
across platforms, including ixigo, ConfirmTkt 
& AbhiBus. Our user base has over 6 million 
cumulative daily active users and a monthly 
download rate that exceeds 8 million downloads 
per month. We currently process around 50 
million bookings annually, catering to over 
80 million passenger segments; a scale that 
further establishes our leadership position and 
influence in the travel industry.

Reaffirming our position as a leading player in 
the global travel industry, two of our ixigo Group 
apps, ixigo trains app and ConfirmTkt were 
featured among the Top 10 most downloaded 
travel apps globally for 2022 (as per data.ai). 
ixigo trains app was also ranked as the 8th 
fastest-growing travel app in the world based 
on annual downloads. In addition, we have 
improved our app ratings, with all of ixigo Group 
apps achieving an app rating in the 4.5 – 4.7 
rating range across Play Store and App Store. 

In terms of our financial performance, we ended 
FY2023 with significant profitability and a strong 
liquidity position. Our strategic focus on serving 
the Next Billion Users has not only driven rapid 
growth over the past 3 years but has also led to an 
expansion in our EBITDA margin. We take great 
pride in our sustained profitability and positive 
cash flows, having successfully achieved an 
EBITDA margin of ~8.7% in FY2023. For FY2023, 
our operating revenue has exceeded Rs. 500 
crores, representing nearly five-fold growth 

While the overall market bounce back for most 
OTAs has been in the 1-2x range of their pre-
covid levels,  at ixigo we have been able to achieve 
5x growth, partly because of our extremely 
customer-centric philosophy, especially during 
COVID, and partly because we made a couple 
of strategic acquisitions of businesses what 
were culturally aligned and followed a similar 
strategy of remaining frugal and keeping a 
razor sharp focus on unit economics. Both 
these businesses, ConfirmTkt and AbhiBus, are 
operating at a significantly higher level of scale, 
both in terms of revenue and profitability as 
compared to their pre-COVID levels. 

New Product Innovations
We continued to double-down on our efforts 
to launch new embedded finance products, 
which help our customers plan their travel 
better and reduce anxiety and agony when 
there is a change in their plan. In that endeavor 
we launched ‘ixigo Flex’ a product that offers 
travellers a one-time rescheduling request that 
includes a change of date, a change of airline 
and the option of changing the sector (origin/
destination) at a nominal price point. We have 
also recently rolled out a one-stop solution 
for train and flight booking worries through 
our new product ‘Assured Flex’. With Assured 
Flex, flight and train travellers can avail the 
benefit of ‘free cancellation’ or instant trip 
modification including change of travel date, 
origin, destination, route, airline / train, class, 
quota and more. For our bus customers we 
launched Abhi-Assured, our in-house service 
level guarantee product which provides 
refunds to customers of upto 150% of the fare 
amount in case of deficiency of service by the 
bus-operator, covering risks such as service 
cancellations, delays in departure etc. Our 
existing flagship product “ixigo -Assured’- the 
no-question-asked free cancellation product 
with instant refunds continues to drive adoption 
and customer delight. All these products, which 

Letter to Shareholders



ixigo Annual report | 7

compared to our pre-COVID scale. Currently, 
our gross transaction value run rate stands 
at Rs. 10,000 crores annually at the time of 
writing this, and our goal is to double this figure 
within the next two years to solidify our market 
position and expand our reach.

Way Forward
The recent VIDEC travel industry report reaffirms 
our market position as India’s 2nd largest OTA 
by revenue in FY22 and FY23. It also establishes 
our position as the market leading OTA for trains 
(with a nearly 50% market share) and the 2nd 
largest OTA for buses. We have ambitious plans 
to accelerate our growth in FY2024. We have 
strategically positioned ourselves to capitalize 
on the surging travel demand across our three 
core business segments: rail, flight, and bus. 

We are cognizant of the fast-evolving AI 
landscape, where large-language models and 
generative AI technologies (as demonstrated 
by new AI tools such as OpenAI’s ChatGPT) are 
set to disrupt many industries. We will leverage 
generative AI to expand into new segments 
such as AI-based travel planning as well as 
enhance our automated customer servicing 
capabilities. We plan to further cross-sell various 
modes of transport across our user base using 
more advanced contextual targeting, and we 
also intend to launch our own hotels offering in 
the near future to leverage the opportunities 
presented by the fast-growing accommodation 
market. We will be consciously stepping up our 
efforts to build top-of-mind brand recall in the 
categories we operate in and investing further 
in growth in underpenetrated categories. Our 
overall objective is to continue our emphasis 
on putting the customer experience first in 
everything we do, which over time results in 
increased net promoter scores, enhanced 
revenue and growth in profitability while 
simultaneously preserving a robust cash reserve 
to bolster our capabilities to invest 

for the future

To conclude, we would like to convey our sincere 
admiration and thanks to our team of committed 
ixigems for their resolute dedication. Their 
heroic efforts have helped us deliver the best 
to our users for 16 fabulous years of our journey. 
We would also like to reiterate our thanks to all 
the stakeholders for bestowing us with their 
unwavering trust and support.

Best Regards,

Aloke Bajpai & Rajnish Kumar

Letter to Shareholders
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Year 2023

Year 2022

Year 2021

Year 2021

Year 2022

Year 2021

Year 2021

Year 2020

Year 2022

Year 2021

Year 2021

Year 2020

Best Small Budget Campaign award 
by ET Trendies for the video “Agla 
Station Mars”

Deloitte Technology Fast 50 India 
Winner

‘Comeback Kid’ at The
Economics Times (ET)
Startup Awards 2021

Entrepreneur of the Year Award in 
Service Business - Travel for Aloke 
Bajpai & Rajnish Kumar by
Entrepreneur India magazine

Two of ixigo Group apps ,
ixigo Trains App and ConfirmTkt,
featured in Top 10 Downloaded 
Travel Apps (Worldwide and India) 
in 2022, as per Data.ai

Awarded the ‘New Code of Work 
Awards’ for Enterprise by
Wheebox and PeopleStrong

Awarded ‘Silver Digital Content 
Award’ for the In-house Content 
Campaign at the 11th India Digital 
Awards, presented by IAMAI

Awarded the ‘New Code of Work 
Awards’ for Enterprise by Wheebox 
and PeopleStrong

DMA Echo Award 2022 ‘Bronze’ for 
Best Marketing Campaign

Two of ixigo Group apps featured 
amongst the top downloaded 
Travel & Navigation apps worldwide 
- App Annie (Now data.ai) : With 
ixigo Trains app at number 10 & 
ConfirmTkt app

IAMAI Digital Content award silver 
for ‘Best in-house campaign’ 
Winner in 2021

Featured in the ‘Economic Times - 
India’s Growth Champions 2020’

Awards & Accolades



ixigo Annual report | 10

Corporate
Information



ixigo Annual report | 11

Board of Directors

Mr. Aloke Bajpai

Chairman, Managing Director & Group CEO

Mr. Rajnish Kumar 

Non-Executive Director & Group CPTO

Mr. Ravi Chandra Adusumalli 

Non-Executive Director

Mr. Shailesh Lakhani 

Non-Executive Director

Mr. Arun Seth 

Independent Director

Mr. Mahendra Pratap Mall 

Independent Director

Ms. Shuba Rao Mayya 

Independent Director

Mr. Rahul Pandit 

Independent Director

Mr. Frederic Lalonde 

Independent Director

Mr. Rajesh Sawhney 

Independent Director

Group Chief Financial Officer

Mr. Rahul Gautam

Group General Counsel &
Company Secretary

Mr. Suresh Kumar Bhutani

Statutory Auditors 

S.R. Batliboi & Associates LLP 
Chartered Accountants

Registered Office
Second Floor, Veritas Building, 
Sector - 53, Golf Course Road, 
Gurugram - 122 002, Haryana, India.
CIN: U63000HR2006PLC071540 
Tel: +91 - 124 - 6682111
Email: secretarial@ixigo.com 

Website: https://www.ixigo.com/   

Registrar & Share Transfer Agent

Link Intime India Private Limited

C-101, 1st Floor, 247 Park L.B.S. Marg 

Vikhroli (West) Mumbai 400 083 

Maharashtra, India

Tel: (+ 91 22) 4918 6200

Website: www.linkintime.co.in  

Bankers 

Kotak Mahindra Bank Limited 

HDFC Bank Limited

Axis Bank Limited 

ICICI Bank Limited

Karur Vysya Bank

Corporate Information



ixigo Annual report | 12

Management Discussion
& Analysis



ixigo Annual report | 13

OVERVIEW

Indian Macro-Economic Overview

India is expected to move from being the 5th largest economy in 2023 to become the 3rd largest 
by the year 2027. With GDP growth rate of over 6%, India is expected to be the amongst the 
fastest growing large economy of the course of next few years. The domestic market in India is 
sizeable, attracting foreign investors and businesses to cater to this growing demand and utilize its 
workforce potential with strong economic fundamentals. 

The travel industry is expanding its overall contribution to the Indian economy as the share of 
services sector increases from 46% to the GDP in 2016 to 67% in 2030. The contribution to real 
GDP of hotel and transport as a sector will grow from 16% in Fiscal 2019 to 22% of the real GDP 
in Fiscal 2030. This is mainly because of the organic population demand surges are being met 
with innovative private enterprises, enabled by technology, and ably supported by government 
investments facilitating policies in air, road, and rail transportation and in branded and unbranded 
hospitality.

Travel Industry Overview 

From 2015 to 2019, 1 in 4 new jobs created globally were in the travel and tourism industry, which 
employed 272 million people in the year 2020. The overall contribution of the sector has increased 
at a healthy rate of 5% from ₹ 539 trillion in 2015 to ₹ 671 trillion in 2019. India’s global rank in tourism 
spending is a respectable fifth, and it ranks tenth in terms of percentage-of-GDP spending. India’s 
tourism spending contributed 8% to the country’s GDP, which has grown at a CAGR of over 7% 
between 2015 and 2020. The sector witnessed significant disruption due to Covid-19 pandemic 
and according to the WTTC, the global travel industry suffered a total loss of over ₹ 320 trillion in 
the year 2020. 

The total Indian travel market has grown at an approximate CAGR of 10% from Fiscal 2015 reaching 
₹ 3.90 trillion in Fiscal 2020. This market size is expected to grow by 7% and reach ₹ 5.01 trillion by 
2024. 

Key Growth Drivers of the OTA Industry 

The drivers that spur the growth of the economy and individual transportation segments of air, rail, 
bus, and hospitality are also significant drivers of the OTA industry. Today, travel purchases rank 
second only to retail shopping, in online shopping in India. 

OTA Industry across travel segments is driven specifically due to the following factors: 

•	 Rising penetration of affordable smartphone users which is expected to reach 880 million by 
2025. 

Management Discussion
& Analysis
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•	 Telecommunication companies are expanding 4G / 5G services to provide better connectivity 
and speed such that customers can use apps and easily book tickets online.

•	 The next billion internet users, (“NBUs”) are a highly anticipated consumer class, that will 
determine the direction of consumption in many internet-based industries. It is an existing 
market of “new to Internet” users that includes all non-Tier I market demand i.e., all travel 
demand originating from and/or concluding in Tier II, III and IV and rural areas in India. This is 
estimated to be approximately 90% of train and bus travel segment each and 50% - 55% of 
the flights and hotels segment. This weighed in at over 62% of the overall travel market in 2022. 
Accordingly, it represents a sizeable proportion of the current travel market.

•	 The exponential growth of UPI and other multiple modes of digital payments have led to 
convenient and trusted online payments.

•	 Consumer browsing habits on the internet show how customers are accustomed to spending 
many hours online, searching and comparing options before finally making a travel booking.

•	 Well accepted value proposition of OTAs of providing information, convenience and customer 
service as a one-stop shop for travel-related products.

•	 The ease of comparison between various travel options across carriers and modes, which 
augurs well with the price-sensitive nature of the Indian consumer, who is known to respond to 
even small price differentials.

•	 The ability of OTAs to offer competitive pricing on account of higher discounts from OTAs 
themselves, as well as offers from tie-ups with various banking and payment channels.

A shift in demographics of overall travellers to the age group of 18–35 years who are dominating 
the Indian travel scene, comprising almost 66% of the overall trips. This age group is much more 
comfortable using the internet to book and pay for services. 

Review of the Consolidated Financial Performance 

Important Considerations to be kept in mind while reviewing the comparative financial performance 
of FY 23 vis-à-vis FY 22.

1. Impact of Covid -19 on the financial performance

Our financial performance of Fiscal 22 were significantly impacted by impact of Covid-19 pandemic. 
During FY 22 the 2nd and 3rd wave of Covid-19 pandemic in April - June 2021 and December 2021 
- Feb 2022 respectively led to business disruption, resulting in business & operating losses. In 
FY23, there has been bounce-back in travel with the Covid-19 pandemic receding. On account of 
these disruptions the financial performance of Fiscal 23 is not strictly comparable with financial 
performance of Fiscal 22.

2. Consolidation of results of our subsidiary Freshbus Private Limited (FPL) and Acquisition 
of Business of Abhibus Services (India) Private Limited (AbhiBus)

On 1st August 2021 we completed the acquisition of Business of AbhiBus through a Business 
Transfer Agreement. The financial performance of AbhiBus, from the date of acquisition, is also 
included in the consolidated financial performance for Fiscal 2022 and full year for Fiscal 2023. 
Further, on November 22, 2022, we acquired 53.22% in Freshbus. The financial performance of

Management Discussion & Analysis
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Freshbus, from the date of acquisition, is also included in the consolidated financial performance. 
On account of these acquisitions and their consolidation of results, the results of FY 23 may not be 
strictly comparable to FY 22.

These above-mentioned factors should be considered while reviewing the financial performance 
of the company. 

Management Discussion & Analysis
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*Cash EBITDA means Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, and amortization and is calculated 
as the restated profit for the year plus tax expense, finance cost, depreciation, amortization 
expenses and employee stock option scheme related expenses.

Total Income

Our total income comprises revenue from operations and other income. Total income increased by 
34.46% from ₹ 3,849.41 million in Fiscal 2022 to ₹ 5,175.73 million in Fiscal 2023 due to an increase 
in business activity across all the segments and growth in other income. Increased travel demand 
due to travel rebound across the categories we operate in led to growth in volume of transactions 
on our platforms as well as improved advertising revenue.

Revenue from Operations

Reconciliation of Gross and Net Revenue from Operations

Gross revenue from operations increased by 41.87% from ₹ 4,515.12 million in Fiscal 2022 to ₹ 
6,405.47 million in Fiscal 2023. This increase was primarily led by the growth in Gross Transaction 
Value (GTV), which increased by 33.18% from ₹ 56,152.49 million in Fiscal 2022 to ₹ 74,786.33 million 
in Fiscal 2023 and improved Gross Take Rate. This increase in GTV was due growth in volume of 
transactions by 17.32% as well as increase in the average ticket value (ATV), which grew by 13.53%.

Break-up of Revenue from Operations

Revenue from contracts with customers primarily includes Ticketing Revenue, Advertisement 
revenue and Other Operating Revenue.

Net total revenue from contracts with customers, increased by 32.05% from ₹ 3,795.80 million in 
Fiscal 2022 to ₹ 5,012.50 million in Fiscal 2023 and was primarily driven by (i) significant increase 
in ticketing revenue by 29.04% from ₹ 3,619.20 million in Fiscal 2022 to ₹ 4,670.33 million in Fiscal 
2023 as a result of an increase in the number of transactions on our OTA platforms, increasing ATV 

Management Discussion & Analysis
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and better take rates. (ii) significant increase in advertisement revenue by 67.03% from ₹ 144.20 
million in Fiscal 2022 to ₹ 240.86 million in Fiscal 2023. (iii) Increase in other operating revenue due 
to growth in the SaaS business.

Other Income

Other income includes (i) interest income on deposits with banks and other interest income, (ii) gain 
on change in fair value of investments, (iii) gain on sale of investments, (iv) Gain on sale of property, 
plant and equipment (net), (v) Excess liabilities / provision written back (vi) rent concession, and 
(vii) miscellaneous income.

Other income increased from ₹ 53.61 million in Fiscal 2022 to ₹ 163.23 million in Fiscal 2023, primarily 
due to provision written back of ₹ 97.46 million as well as Gain on sale of investments from INR 8.61 
million in Fiscal 2022 to INR 32.70 Million in Fiscal 2023.

Expenses

Our expenses comprise (i) employee benefits expense, (ii) finance costs, (iii) depreciation and 
amortization expenses and (iv) other expenses.

Total expenses increased by 20.31% from ₹ 4,025.41 million in Fiscal 2022 to ₹ 4,842.92 million in 
Fiscal 2023, primarily due to increase in Other expenses and Employee benefits expense as well as 
on account of impact of full year consolidation of Abhibus, as in Fiscal 2022 Abhibus results were 
consolidated only for 8 months post completion of acquisition on August 1, 2021.

(i) Employee Benefits Expense

Employee benefits expense comprises (i) salaries, wages, and bonus; (ii) contribution to the 
provident and other funds; (iii) gratuity expense; (iv) employee stock option scheme expense; and 
(v) staff welfare expenses.

Employee benefits expense increased by 32.68% from ₹ 951.60 million in Fiscal 2022 to ₹ 1,262.61 
million in Fiscal 2023, primarily due to an increase in Salaries, wages, and bonus by 43.19%. Owing 
to annual increment and increased number of employee from 407 as on March 31, 2022, to 547 as 
on March 31, 2023.

(ii) Finance Costs

Finance costs comprise interest on borrowings and interest on lease liability.

Finance costs decreased from ₹ 28.03 million in Fiscal 2022 to ₹ 9.49 million in Fiscal 2023 primarily 
due to an decrease in interest on borrowings from ₹ 21.43 million in Fiscal 2022 to ₹ 1.45 million in 
Fiscal 2023 due to full repayment of debentures during Fiscal 2022. This increase was offset in part 
by an increase in interest on lease liability from ₹ 6.60 million in Fiscal 2022 to ₹ 8.04 million in Fiscal 
2023.

Management Discussion & Analysis
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(iii) Depreciation and Amortization Expenses

Depreciation and amortization expenses comprises (i) depreciation on property, plant and 
equipment; (ii) depreciation on right of use; and (iii) amortization of intangible assets.

Depreciation and amortisation expense increased by 37.89% from ₹ 78.43 million in Fiscal 2022 to 
₹ 108.15 million in Fiscal 2023, primarily due to an increase in amortization of intangibles assets by 
26.66% from ₹ 62.33 million in Fiscal 2022 to ₹ 78.95 million in Fiscal 2023.

(iv) Other Expenses

Other expenses include, amongst others (i) customer refunds / cancellation costs; (ii) advertising 
and sales promotion; (iii) partner support cost; (iv) payment gateway charges; (v) distribution 
costs; (vi) outsourcing cost; and (vii) other overheads.
Other expenses increased by 16.69% from ₹ 2,967.35 million in Fiscal 2022 to ₹ 3,462.67 million in 
Fiscal 2023, primarily due to following:

Management Discussion & Analysis
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EBITDA and Cash EBITDA

The EBITDA of the company for FY 23 was ₹ 450.45 million as compared to ₹ (69.54) million in FY 
2022. We continued to deliver positive Cash EBITDA of ₹ 606.68 million in FY 23, as compared to 
₹ 115.61 million in FY 22. Increase in EBITDA and Cash EBITDA is primarily on account of significant 
growth in overall business operations of the Group, improving profitability across all segments and 
operating leverage inherent to our business model.

Exceptional Items

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Company has charged off INR 126.07 as exceptional item 
in Statement of Profit and Loss. INR 71.29 pertains to share issue expenses and INR 54.78 related to 
Provision taken against the advance provided to Go Airlines (India) Limited (“Go Air”) for business 
purposes and other dues. The Company had incurred an expenditure of INR 116.78 as at March 31, 
2023 towards the initial public offer (IPO) of which invoices worth INR 45.49 were raised to selling 
shareholders for recovery as on March 31, 2023 and balance INR 71.29 is charged off to Statement 
of Profit and Loss as exceptional item during the year ended March 31, 2023.

Tax (income) / expenses

Tax expenses comprises (i) Current tax; (ii) Deferred tax credit.

Tax (income) / expenses decreased by 177.9% from ₹ 34.94 million in Fiscal 2022 to ₹ (27.22) million 
in Fiscal 2023, primarily due to an recognition of deferred tax assets on brought forward losses  
and temporary differences in income tax.

Management Discussion & Analysis



ixigo Annual report | 20

Management Discussion & Analysis

Consolidated Summary Statement of Assets and Liabilities
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Management Discussion & Analysis

Assets

Total assets include (i) Property, plant and equipment, (ii) Capital work-in progress, (iii) Goodwill, 
(iv) Other intangible assets, (v) Intangible assets under development, (vi) Right- of-use assets, (vii) 
Non-current tax asset (net), (viii) Deferred tax assets (net), (ix) Investments, (x) Trade Receivables, 
(xi) Cash and cash equivalents, (xii) Bank balances other than cash and cash equivalents, (xiii) Loans, 
(xi) Other financial assets and (xii) Other assets.

Total assets increased by 8.81% from ₹ 5,384.71 million in Fiscal 2022 to ₹ 5,859.25 million in Fiscal 
2023. Following are the major reasons for increase in assets:

Capital work-in progress.
Capital work-in progress recognised during the Fiscal 2023 is INR 28.89 Million on account of 
consolidation of Freshbus, wherein various Depots / Charging Stations are under construction.
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Goodwill
Goodwill increased by 1.71% from ₹ 2,541.37 million in Fiscal 2022 to ₹ 2,584.76 million in Fiscal 2023 
primarily on account of consolidation of Freshbus.

Other intangible assets
Other intangible assets decreased by 18.77% from ₹ 303.80 million in Fiscal 2022 to ₹ 246.77 million 
in Fiscal 2023 majorly on account of amortisation of intangibles by ₹ 78.95 million. This decrease 
was offset by addition to intangibles by ₹ 21.92 million in Fiscal 2023.

Intangible assets under development
Intangible assets under development recognised during the Fiscal 2023 is INR 48.41 million on 
account of development of certain products.

Right-of-use assets
Right-of-use assets increased by 183.09% from ₹ 25.07 million in Fiscal 2022 to ₹ 70.97 million in 
Fiscal 2023 on account of consolidation of Freshbus, which primarily operates in electric buses on 
leased model.

Deferred tax assets (net)
Deferred tax assets (net) increased by 3,072.06% from ₹ 5.01 million in Fiscal 2022 to ₹ 158.92 million 
in Fiscal 2023 on account of deferred tax assets recognised on carried forward losses, owing to 
reasonable certainty of utilisation of these losses against future periods.

Current and Non-current Investments
Investments increased by 18.32% from ₹ 403.49 million in Fiscal 2022 to ₹ 477.42 million in Fiscal 
2023.

Trade Receivables
Trade Receivables increased by 37.94% from ₹ 86.19 million in Fiscal 2022 to ₹ 118.89 million in Fiscal 
2023 due to increased business activity specifically with respect to advertising revenue.

Other current and non-current financial assets
Other financial assets comprise Security deposits, Finance lease receivables, Term deposit with 
more than 12 months and Other receivables. Other financial assets increased by 24.12% from 
₹180.80 million in Fiscal 2022 to ₹ 224.41 million in Fiscal 2023.

Other current and non-current assets
Other assets comprises prepaid expenses, advance to suppliers and balance with government 
authorities. Other assets increased by 20.13% from ₹ 688.81 million in Fiscal 2022 to ₹ 827.45 million 
in Fiscal 2023.

Equity and Liabilities
Equity and Liabilities include (i) Equity share capitals, (ii) Other equity, (iii) Non-controlling interest, 
(iv) Lease liabilities, (v) Deferred tax liabilities, (vi) Provisions, (vii) Contract Liabilities, (viii) Borrowings 
(net), (ix) Trade Payables, (x) Other financial liabilities and (xi) Other liabilities.

Management Discussion & Analysis
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Total equity and liabilities increased by 8.81% from ₹ 5,384.71 million in Fiscal 2022 to ₹ 5,859.25 
million in Fiscal 2023. Following are the major reasons for increase in equity and liabilities:

Other Equity
Other equity increased from ₹ 3,057.11 million in Fiscal 2022 to ₹ 3,366.44 million in Fiscal 2023, with 
significant increase in Retained earnings by INR 150.59 Million on account of Profit for the year and 
Derecognition of NCI to financial liability. Further INR 108.96 Million increased due to Employee 
stock option reserve.

Non-controlling interests
Non-controlling interests recognised INR 133.55 Million on account of consolidation of Freshbus.

Lease Liabilities
Lease liabilities increased by increased by 118.81% from ₹ 43.39 million in Fiscal 2022 to ₹ 94.94 
million in Fiscal 2023 on account of consolidation of Freshbus, which primarily operates in electric 
buses on leased model.

Trade Payables
Trade Payables decreased by 18.98% from ₹ 445.36 million in Fiscal 2022 to ₹ 360.85 million in Fiscal 
2023.

Other current and non-current financial liabilities
Other current and non-current financial liabilities decreased by 13.84% from ₹ 1,208.00 million 
in Fiscal 2022 to ₹ 1,040.80 million in Fiscal 2023 majorly on account of payment for acquisition 
of additional stake in Confirm Ticket Online Solutions and payment of security deposit to the 
distribution partner.

Other current liabilities
Other liabilities increased by increased by 191.54% from ₹ 97.87 million in Fiscal 2022 to ₹ 285.33 
million in Fiscal 2023 primarily due to significant increase in Statutory dues.
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Segment Information

The Group is organized into Line of Businesses (LOBs) based on its products and services and has 
following reportable segments:

•	 Flight Ticketing: Through internet and mobile based platform and call-centres the Group 
provides the facility to book and service domestic and international air tickets to ultimate 
consumer through B2C (Business To Consumer) and B2B2C (Business to Business to Consumer) 
channel. Both these channels share similar characteristics as they are engaged in facilitation of 
air tickets. This also includes the ancillary and advertisement income generated from this LOB. 

•	 Train Ticketing: Through internet and mobile based platform and call-centres the Group 
provides the facility to book and service Train tickets to ultimate consumer through B2C 
(Business To Consumer) and B2B2C (Business to Business to Consumer) channel. Both 
these channels share similar characteristics as they are engaged in facilitation of Train 
tickets. This also includes the ancillary and advertisement income generated from this LOB. 

•	 Bus Ticketing: Through internet and mobile based platform and call-centres the Group provides 
the facility to book and service Bus tickets to ultimate consumer through B2C (Business To 
Consumer) and B2B2C (Business to Business to Consumer) channel. Both these channels share 
similar characteristics as they are engaged in facilitation of Bus tickets. This also includes the 
ancillary, Software as a Service (SaaS) income and advertisement income generated from this LOB. 

•	 Other services: Other services primarily includes income from affiliate marketing for hotel 
booking. The operations do not meet any of the quantitative threshold to be a reportable 
segment for any of the period presented in this consolidated financial statement.
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Financial and Operation Performance

Segment revenue increased by 32.05% from ₹ 3,795.80 million in Fiscal 2022 to ₹ 5012.50 million in 
Fiscal 2023. Segment results increased by 79.28% from ₹ 1,216.41 million in Fiscal 2022 to ₹ 2,180.78 
million in Fiscal 2023 demonstrating improved efficiencies in the businesses.

Flight

Flight revenue decreased by 23.18% from ₹ 1,328.13 million in Fiscal 2022 to ₹ 1020.33 million in 
Fiscal 2023, however excluding the impact of distribution business with the distribution partner 
which ended in January 2022, revenue would have increased by 64.18% year on year. Further, Flight 
results increased by 32.73% from ₹ 423.30 million in Fiscal 2022 to ₹ 561.84 million in Fiscal 2023, 
excluding the impact of distribution business with the distribution partner, results increased by 
73.58%. This was primarily due to the decrease in Gross Transaction Value (GTV), which decreased 
by 9.52% from ₹ 22,562.28 million in Fiscal 2022 to ₹ 20,413.66 million in Fiscal 2023 and decrease 
in transactions by 20.55% from 2.28 million in Fiscal 2022 to 1.81 million in Fiscal 2023.Despite the 
reduction in revenue, segment results have improved from ₹ 423.30 million to ₹ 561.84 million due 
to the decrease in distribution costs related to the distribution partner.
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Train

Train revenue increased by 37.35% from ₹ 2,168.19 million in Fiscal 2022 to ₹ 2,977.99 million in Fiscal 
2023. Further Train results increased by 64.09% from ₹ 585.75 million in Fiscal 2022 to ₹ 961.17 
million in Fiscal 2023. This was primarily led by the increase in Gross Transaction Value (GTV), which 
increased by 48.05% from ₹ 30,201.91 million in Fiscal 2022 to ₹ 44,715.42 million in Fiscal 2023, 
increase in transactions by 9.75% from 36.29 million in Fiscal 2022 to 39.83 million in Fiscal 2023 and 
increase in revenue per transaction from Rs. 59.74 to Rs 74.76.

Bus

Bus revenue increased by 238.82% from ₹ 287.48 million in Fiscal 2022 to ₹ 974.05 million in Fiscal 
2023. Further Bus results increased by 216.16% from ₹ 195.36 million in Fiscal 2022 to ₹ 617.65 
million in Fiscal 2023. This was primarily led by the increase in Gross Transaction Value (GTV), which 
increased by 185.02% from ₹ 3,388.31 million in Fiscal 2022 to ₹ 9,657.25 million in Fiscal 2023, 
increase in transactions by 134.34% from 3.08 million in Fiscal 2022 to 7.22 million in Fiscal 2023 
and increase in revenue per transaction from Rs. 93.28 to Rs. 134.87. Also the bus business from 
Abhibus was consolidated only for the last 8 months of Fiscal 2022 and for full year in Fiscal 2023.
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LE TRAVENUES TECHNOLOGY LIMITED
Registered Office: Second Floor, Veritas Building, Sector - 53,

Golf Course Road, Gurugram - 122 002, Haryana, India.
CIN: U63000HR2006PLC071540; Tel: +91 - 124 - 6682111

Email: secretarial@ixigo.com Website: https://www.ixigo.com/

  BOARD’S REPORT

Dear Members,

Your directors have the pleasure of presenting their seventeenth report on the business and 
operations of Le Travenues Technology Limited (the “Company” / “ixigo”) together with the audited 
financial statements for the financial year ended March 31, 2023.

I. Financial Statements and Results

1. Financial Results

The standalone and consolidated financial highlights of your Company’s operations are summarised 
below:

Board’s Report



ixigo Annual report | 29

2. Result of Operations

Consolidated Accounts

•	 Total income during the year 2022-23 increased to ₹5,175.73 million as 
against ₹3,849.41 million during the year 2021-22, a growth of 34.46%. 

•	 Profit after tax is ₹233.96 million during the year 2022-23 as compared to loss after tax of 
₹(210.94) million during the year 2021-22.

Standalone Accounts

•	 Total income during the year 2022-23 increased to ₹3,451.98 million as 
against ₹2,592.10 million during the year 2021-22, a growth of 33.17%. 

•	 Profit after tax is ₹45.34 million during the year 2022-23 as compared to loss after tax of ₹ 
(320.45) million during the year 2021-22.
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3. Appropriation and Reserves

Dividend

With a view to reinvesting the profits of the business, the board of directors of your Company (the 
“Board”) does not recommend any dividend on equity shares of the Company for the year ended 
March 31, 2023.

Reserves

Your directors have not proposed transferring any amount to reserves for the financial year 2022-
23.

4. Subsidiaries, Joint Ventures, and Associates of the Company

During the year under review, your Company invested in Freshbus Private Limited (“Freshbus”) 
effective November 22, 2022.

The Company has the following subsidiaries as of March 31, 2023:

• Travenues Innovations Private Limited (wholly owned subsidiary);
• Confirm Ticket Online Solutions Private Limited (90.08% subsidiary);
• Ixigo Europe, S.L. (wholly owned subsidiary); and
• Freshbus Private Limited (53.22% subsidiary).

During the year under review, your Company did not have any associate or joint venture company.

A statement containing salient features, performance, and financial position of each of the 
subsidiaries for the financial year ended March 31, 2023, is attached with the financial statement of 
the Company in the prescribed Form AOC-1 as Annexure - 1 and forms part of this report.

The entire set of subsidiaries’ financials are available for inspection at the registered office of the 
Company in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act, 2013.

5. Consolidated Financial Statements

The consolidated financial statements of the Company prepared as per the applicable accounting 
standard consolidating the Company’s accounts with its subsidiaries will form part of the annual 
report.

6. Revision of Financial Statement

There was no revision of the financial statements for the year under review.
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7. Changes in the capital structure

During the year under review, there was no change in the authorised, subscribed, and paid-up 
share capital of the Company except the following:

a) Reclassification of the Authorised share capital of the Company

The members at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on October 12, 2022, had 
approved the reclassification of the authorised share capital of the Company by reclassification/
cancellation of the entire unissued preference share capital into equity share capital with the revised 
authorised share capital of ₹50,00,00,000/- (Rupees Fifty Crore only) divided into 50,00,00,000 
(Fifty Crore) Equity Shares of ₹ 1/- (Rupee One only) each and consequently alter Clause V of the 
Memorandum of Association of the Company.

b) Allotment of shares upon exercise of options granted under the employee’s stock option 
schemes

Your Company is having six employees stock option schemes namely Le Travenues Technology 
- Employees Stock Option Scheme 2009 (“ESOS 2009”); Le Travenues Technology - Employees 
Stock Option Scheme 2012 (“ESOS 2012”); Le Travenues Technology - Employees Stock Option 
Scheme 2013 (“ESOS 2013”); Le Travenues Technology - Employees Stock Option Scheme 2016 
(“ESOS 2016”), Le Travenues Technology - Employees Stock Option Scheme 2020 (“ESOS 2020”) 
and Le Travenues Technology - Employees Stock Option Scheme 2021 (“ESOS 2021”) (hereinafter 
collectively referred to in this report as “Prevailing ESOS”) and your directors have allotted the 
following equity shares during the year under review on the following dates as set out below, 
consequent upon exercise of vested options granted under the prevailing employees stock option 
schemes of the Company:

(i) Allotment on May 04, 2022

•	 88,000 equity share of Rs. 1 each at a premium of Rs. 0.25 per share with an Issue Price of Rs.      
1.25/- per share under ESOS 2012;

•	 4,13,000 equity shares of Re. 1/- each at a premium of Rs. 0.25 per share with an Issue Price of 
Rs. 1.25/- per share under ESOS 2013;

•	 54,400 equity shares of Re. 1/- each at a premium of Rs. 0.25 per share with an Issue Price of 
Rs. 1.25/- per share under ESOS 2016;

•	 2,22,086 equity shares of Re. 1/- each at a premium of Rs. 0.25 per share with an Issue Price of 
Rs. 1.25/- per share under ESOS 2020;

•	 3,86,345 equity shares of Re. 1/- each at a premium of Rs. 0.25 per share with an Issue Price of 
Rs. 1.25/- per share under ESOS 2021;

•	 4,000 equity shares of Re. 1/- each at an Exercise Price of Rs. 0.50/- per share and at an Issue 
Price of Re 1/- per share by utilising the Securities Premium Account of Rs. 0.50/- per share 
under ESOS 2020.
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(ii) Allotment on September 16, 2022

•	 55,200 equity shares of Re. 1/- each at a premium of Rs. 0.25 per share with an Issue Price of 
Rs. 1.25/- per share under ESOS 2013;

•	 96,000 equity shares of Re. 1/- each at a premium of Rs. 0.25 per share with an Issue Price of 
Rs. 1.25/- per share under ESOS 2016;

•	 11,200 equity shares of Re. 1/- each at an Exercise Price of Rs. 0.50/- per share and at an Issue 
Price of Re 1/- per share by utilising the Securities Premium Account of Rs. 0.50/- per share 
under ESOS 2020;

•	 44,900 equity shares of Re. 1/- each at a premium of Rs. 0.25 per share with an Issue Price of 
Rs. 1.25/- per share under ESOS 2020;

•	 79,781 equity shares of Re. 1/- each at a premium of Rs. 0.25 per share with an Issue Price of Rs. 
1.25/- per share under ESOS 2021.

(iii) Allotment on January 14, 2023

•	 Allotment of 1,056 equity shares of Re. 1/- each at a premium of Rs. 0.25 per share with an Issue 
Price of Rs. 1.25/- per share under ESOS 2021.

c) Initial Public Offer

At the fifteenth annual general meeting of the Company held on July 29, 2021, the shareholders 
approved the special resolution for raising capital through an initial public offering. Subsequently, 
the Company filed the draft red herring prospectus (“DRHP”) dated August 12, 2021, with the 
Securities and Exchange Board of India (“SEBI”). In December 2021, SEBI issued the observation 
letter, in compliance with which the proposed issue can open for subscription within a period 
of 12 months from the date of the issuance of the said letter. Due to certain unfavorable market 
conditions, the Company has deferred the plan to raise the capital through a public issue.

8. Public Deposits

During the financial year under review, your Company has not accepted or renewed any deposit 
falling within the purview of the provisions of Sections 73 and 74 of the Companies Act, 2013 
(the “Act”) read with the Companies (Acceptance of Deposits) Rules, 2014. Accordingly, the 
requirement for furnishing details of deposits that are not in compliance with Chapter V of the Act 
is not applicable.

9. Amendment / Alteration of the Memorandum of Association and Articles of Association 
of the Company

During the year under review, the Memorandum of Association of the Company was amended 
with the approval of the members at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 
October 12, 2022, approved the reclassification of the authorised share capital of the Company 
by reclassification/cancellation of the entire unissued preference share capital into equity share 
capital with the revised authorised share capital of ₹50,00,00,000/- (Rupees Fifty Crore only) 
divided into 50,00,00,000 (Fifty Crore) Equity Shares of ₹ 1/- (Rupee One
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only) each and consequently alter Clause V of the Memorandum of Association of the Company.

10. Disclosures under Section 134(3)(l) of the Companies Act, 2013

Except as disclosed below and elsewhere in this report, no material changes and commitments 
which could affect the Company’s financial position have occurred between the end of the financial 
year of the Company and the date of this report.

Subsequent to the year ended March 31, 2023, the Board of Directors of the Company at their 
meeting held on April 24, 2023, considered and approved the Scheme of Amalgamation of Confirm 
Ticket Online Solutions Private Limited, a subsidiary of the Company (“Transferor Company”) with 
and into Le Travenues Technology Limited (“Transferee Company”). Further, the Company, having 
received requisite threshold of approvals from the equity shareholders, secured creditors, and 
unsecured creditors, filed a preliminary application with the Hon’ble NCLT Chandigarh seeking 
dispensation from the statutory requirement of convening meetings of its members and creditors 
for the approval of the Scheme. Following the completion of this step, the Company will file a 
petition before the Hon’ble NCLT for obtaining final sanction and approval of the Scheme.

Subsequent to the close of the financial year, Travenues Innovations Private Limited, Subsidiary of 
Le Travenues Technology Limited has filed an application to the Registrar of Companies, NCT of 
Delhi & Haryana on April 19, 2023 for striking off of its name from the Register of Companies u/s 
248(2) of the Companies Act, 2013.

11. Disclosure of internal financial controls

The internal financial controls with reference to financial statements as designed and implemented 
by the Company are adequate. As per the report issued by the statutory auditors with respect to 
the standalone financial statements on Internal Financial Controls of the Company under Clause 
(i) of Sub-Section 3 of Section 143 of the Companies Act, 2013, the Company has, in all material 
respects, adequate internal financial controls with reference to Standalone financial statements and 
such internal financial controls with reference to Standalone financial statements were operating 
effectively as at March 31, 2023, based on the internal control over financial reporting criteria 
established by the Company considering the essential components of internal control stated in 
the Guidance Note issued by the ICAI.

With respect to the consolidated financial statements, the report issued by the statutory auditors 
provides that, the Holding Company, which is a company incorporated in India, has maintained 
in all material respects, adequate internal financial controls with reference to these consolidated 
financial statements and such internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial 
statements were operating effectively as at March 31, 2023, based on the internal control over 
financial reporting criteria established by the Holding Company considering the essential 
components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note issued by ICAI.
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12. Particulars of contracts or arrangements made with related parties

Particulars of Contracts or Arrangement with related parties referred to in Section 188(1) of the 
Companies Act, 2013, in the prescribed Form AOC - 2, have been furnished in Annexure - 2 which 
forms part of this report.

13. Particulars of loans, guarantees, and investments

During the financial year under review, the Company made investments in the securities. Particulars 
of loans, guarantees, and investments covered under Section 186 of the Companies Act, 2013 read 
with the Companies (Meeting of Board and its Powers) Rules, 2014 as of March 31, 2023, are set out 
in the financial statements forming part of this report.

14. Disclosure under Section 43(a)(ii) of the Companies Act, 2013

During the financial year under review, the Company has not issued any shares with differential 
voting rights, and hence no information as per provisions of Section 43(a)(ii) of the Companies Act, 
2013 read with applicable rules is required to be furnished.

15. Disclosure under Section 54(1)(d) of the Companies Act, 2013

During the financial year under review, the Company has not issued any sweat equity shares, and 
hence no information as per the provisions of Section 54(1)(d) of the Companies Act, 2013 read 
with applicable rules is required to be furnished.

16. Disclosure under Section 62(1)(b) of the Companies Act, 2013

The Prevailing ESOS are in compliance with the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Share 
Based Employee Benefits and Sweat Equity) Regulations, 2021. There are no material changes in 
the Prevailing ESOS during the year under review.

Please refer to Annexure - 3 for details relating to Prevailing ESOS in compliance with the provisions 
of Section 62(1)(b) of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Clause (9) of Rule 12 of the Companies 
(Share Capital and Debentures) Rules, 2014.

17. Disclosure under Section 197(12) of the Companies Act, 2013

Your Company being an unlisted public company, the disclosure requirements under Section 
197(12) of the Companies Act, 2013 are not applicable.
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II. Operational performance

We are a technology company focused on empowering Indian travelers to plan, book, and manage 
their trips across rail, air, buses, and hotels. We assist travelers in making smarter travel decisions 
by leveraging artificial intelligence, machine learning, and data science-led innovations on our OTA 
platforms, comprising our websites and mobile applications. Our vision is to become the most 
customer-centric travel company, by offering the best customer experience to our users. Our 
focus on travel utility and customer experience for travelers in the ‘next billion users’ segment 
is driven by technology, cost-efficiency, and our culture of innovation. Our OTA platforms allow 
travelers to book train tickets, flight tickets, bus tickets, hotels, and cabs, while providing travel 
utility tools and services developed using in-house proprietary algorithms and crowd-sourced 
information, including train PNR status and confirmation predictions, train seat availability alerts, 
train running status updates and delay predictions, flight status updates, bus running status, pricing 
and availability alerts, deal discovery, destination content, personalized recommendations, instant 
fare alerts for flights and automated customer support services.

We endeavour that our OTA platforms are able to build significant user adoption and engagement 
by offering convenience, utility, and value-added customer- centric solutions for travel-related 
issues. Our Registered Users increased at a CAGR of 71.78% between Fiscal 2020 and Fiscal 2023 
and our Repeat Transaction Rate was 83.23% in Fiscal 2023. Further, the yearly downloads for our 
mobile apps on the Google Play Store and iOS app stores were 62.83 million, 69.61 million, 43.80 
million, 90.00 million, and 96.84 million in Fiscals 2019, 2020, 2021, 2022, and 2023 respectively, 
including the downloads for ixigo, ConfirmTkt & Abhibus apps from the date of these acquisitions.

During the COVID-19 pandemic, several of our actions helped us build and grow trust and word-of-
mouth among our users and ecosystem. For example, we did not lay off any team members during 
the pandemic, boosted the staff strength of our outsourced call center to serve our customers, 
reduced our online marketing expenditure and our innovative and engaging videos enabled us to 
organically improve our brand salience as we continued to engage with users through informative 
messages even during the lockdowns imposed due to COVID-19 pandemic which restricted travel. 
We built a COVID-19 Travel Guide section on our website and apps to provide accurate, up-to-
date information to our users for travel restrictions, e-pass / COVID-19 testing requirements for 
various cities and states in India, and visa and entry restrictions for foreign countries. We built and 
launched ixigo assured, our free cancellation option for bookings, provided at a nominal charge, 
to enable our customers to make bookings but receive refunds in case they decide to cancel their 
trips for any reason. In 2021, we launched a vaccine slot finder and booking tool that helped our 
users find slots and book their vaccinations.

On train utility and ticketing across ixigo and ConfirmTkt combined, this year we continue to 
remain the most used and largest train OTA in India, with a dominant and rising share of train B2C 
OTA bookings, where we work in partnership with IRCTC.

With the acquisition of Abhibus’ business, the Company has strengthened its position in the next 
billion-user market. The Company has more recently cross- integrated flights, buses, and trains 
across ixigo, ConfirmTkt & Abhibus, allowing for more effective cross-selling of services across the 
three brands.
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Our employee strength has increased from 407 to 547 employees at the group level as of the 
end of FY23 including 37 employees of Freshbus, a Company in which we took 53.22% stake in 
November 2022.

For a further detailed analysis of the operational performance of your Company, please refer to 
the standalone and consolidated financial statements of the Company forming part of the Annual 
Report.

III. Disclosure related to Directors and Key Managerial Personnel

1. Directors

During the year under review, the following change took place on the board of directors of the 
Company.

At the Sixteenth Annual General Meeting of the Company held on July 07, 2022, the members 
approved the re-appointment of Mr. Rajnish Kumar on the Board, who was liable to retire by rotation 
and offered himself for re-appointment.

None of the directors of the Company are disqualified as per the provisions of Section 164(2) of 
the Companies Act, 2013.

2. Declaration by Independent Directors

Your Board has received declarations from all Independent Directors confirming that they meet 
the criteria of independence as laid down under Section 149 of the Companies Act, 2013. During 
the year under review, there has been no change in the circumstances affecting their status as 
Independent Directors of your Company.

3. Annual evaluation of the performance of the Board, its Committees, and individual 
directors

For the year under review, your Company is covered within the threshold limits set out under 
Section 134(3)(p) of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Clause (4) of Rule 8 of the Companies 
(Accounts) Rules, 2014. The Board had approved the Le Travenues Technology Limited - Board 
Evaluation Policy formulated by the Nomination and Remuneration Committee at its meeting 
held on January 14, 2023 for the evaluation of the performance of the Board of Directors of the 
Company and committees thereof in compliance with the provisions of Sections 134(3)(p), 178 (2), 
and other applicable provisions, if any, of the Companies Act, 2013.
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As required under  Section  178(2) of the Companies Act, 2013 and under Schedule IV to the 
Companies Act, 2013 on Code of conduct for Independent Directors, a comprehensive exercise 
for evaluation of the performances of (a) the Board as a whole, (b) Chairman of the Board, (c) 
Individual Directors, both Independent and Non- Independent, and (d) for each of the Board 
Committees separately has been carried by your Company as per the evaluation criteria formulated 
by the Nomination and Remuneration Committee and approved by the Board and based on 
guidelines given in Schedule IV to the Companies Act, 2013. The exercise was carried out through 
questionnaires which were sent directly to the Board members on a confidential basis.

In view of the size and nature of business of the Company, the evaluation methodology adopted 
is, in the opinion of the Board, sufficient, appropriate and is found to be in compliance with the 
applicable law.

4. Key Managerial Personnel

During the year under review, the following changes took place in the key managerial persons of 
the Company as defined under the Companies Act, 2013.

a) Mr. Ravi Shankar Gupta resigned from the office of Group Chief Financial Officer effective May 
04, 2022.

b) Mr. Rahul Gautam was appointed as a Group Chief Financial Officer effective May 05, 2022.

IV. Disclosures related to Board, Committees, and Policies

1. Board Meetings

During the financial year under review, the Board met four times in accordance with the provisions 
of the Companies Act, 2013 and the rules made thereunder on the following dates with the 
necessary quorum being present at all the meetings.

1. May 04, 2022

2. August 25, 2022

3. September 16, 2022

4. January 14, 2023
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Following are the number of Board meetings attended by each director:

2. Directors’ Responsibility Statement

According to Section 134(3)(c) of the Companies Act, 2013, the Board of Directors of the Company 
confirms that:

i. in the preparation of the annual accounts, the applicable accounting standards had been followed 
along with proper explanation relating to material departures, if any;

ii. the directors had selected such accounting policies and applied them consistently and made 
judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent so as to give a true and fair view of the 
state of the affairs of the Company at the end of the financial year and of the profit and loss of the 
Company for that period;

iii. the directors have taken proper and sufficient care for the maintenance of adequate accounting 
records in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 for safeguarding the assets 
of the Company and for preventing and detecting fraud and other irregularities;

iv. the directors have prepared the annual accounts on a going concern basis; and

v. the directors have devised proper systems to ensure compliance with the provisions of all 
applicable laws and that such systems were adequate and operating effectively.

2. Committees of the Board

During the year under review, the Board had constituted a Banking and Finance Committee at its 
meeting held on August 25, 2022, for considering and approving matters related to the banking 
and treasury operations of the Company in addition to the following six committees:
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a) Audit Committee;
b) Nomination and Remuneration Committee;
c) Stakeholders’ Relationship Committee;
d) Risk Management Committee; 
e) Corporate Social Responsibility Committee; and
f) IPO Committee.

The Board had re-constituted the Risk Management Committee at its meeting held on August 
25, 2022 by appointment of Mr. Rahul Gautam, Group CFO of the Company as member of the 
Committee.

The Board had also re-constituted the Corporate and Social Responsibility Committee by 
appointment of Mr. Ravi Chandra Adusumalli, Non-Executive Director and Mr. Shailesh Lakhani, 
Non-Executive Director as the members of the Committee at its meeting held on January 14, 2023.

4. Policies

(A) Vigil Mechanism Policy for the Directors and Employees

For the year under review, your Company was not covered within the threshold limits set out under 
Rule 7 of the Companies (Meetings of Board and its Powers) Rules, 2014 read with Section 177(9) 
of the Companies Act, 2013.

However voluntarily the Company has a vigil mechanism in place for reporting genuine concerns 
or grievances by employees/directors. The vigil mechanism provides adequate safeguards against 
victimization to any employees and/or directors who use the mechanism to report their concerns 
or grievances and also provides for direct access to the Chairperson of the Audit Committee, in 
exceptional cases.

During the year under review, the Company has not received any complaint under the Vigil 
Mechanism.

(B) Policy on Directors’ Appointment and Remuneration

Your Company had adopted ‘Le Travenues Technology Limited - Nomination and Remuneration 
Policy’ in compliance with Section 178 of the Companies Act, 2013 and other applicable laws, for 
identification, selection, and appointment of Directors, Key Managerial Personnel (KMPs), and 
Senior Management of your Company. The Policy lays down the process and parameters for the 
appointment and remuneration of the KMPs and other senior management personnel and the 
criteria for determining qualifications, highest level of personal and professional ethics, positive 
attributes, financial literacy, and independence of a Director. The Policy is available on the Investor 
Relations section of ixigo’s website at https://www.ixigo.com/about/investor-relations/
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(C) Corporate Social Responsibility Policy 

Your Board at its meeting held on January 14,  2023, re-constituted the Corporate Social 
Responsibility Committee with the following directors as its members:

1. Mr. Aloke Bajpai, Executive Director (Chairperson)
2. Mr. Rajnish Kumar, Non-Executive Director (Member)
3. Mr. Arun Seth, Non-Executive Independent Director (Member)
4. Mr. Frederic Lalonde, Non-Executive Independent Director (Member)
5. Mr. Ravi Chandra Adusumalli, Non-Executive Director (Member)
6. Mr. Shailesh Lakhani, Non-Executive Director (Member)

The Corporate Social Responsibility Policy approved by the Board is available on the Investor 
Relations section of ixigo’s website at https://www.ixigo.com/about/investor-relations/ As per 
the audited financial statements, the Company doesn’t have average net profits during the three 
immediately preceding financial years, requiring the Company to spend at least two percent 
thereof in compliance with the provisions of sub section (5) of Section 135 of the Companies 
Act, 2013. Based on the availability of profits, the Corporate Social Responsibility Committee will 
consider taking certain corporate social responsibility initiatives in compliance with the Company’s 
CSR Policy and applicable laws.

(D) Risk Management Policy

Your Company has put in place a Risk Management Policy based on the guiding principles 
of identifying, assessing, and mitigating risks. It is an integral part of decision-making for your 
Company and is dynamic, undergoing continuous improvement. The Risk Management process 
involves setting objectives, identifying key risks (including identification of elements of risk, if any, 
which in the opinion of the Board may threaten the existence of the Company) on an ongoing 
basis, developing a mitigation action plan, and monitoring.

V. Auditors and Reports

1. Statutory Auditors

S. R. Batliboi & Associates LLP, Chartered Accountants, (ICAI Firm Registration No. 101049W/
E300004) was appointed as statutory auditors of your Company at the Fourteenth Annual General 
Meeting held on Thursday, December 31, 2020, for a term of five consecutive years from the 
conclusion of the Fourteenth Annual General Meeting till the conclusion of the Nineteenth Annual 
General Meeting of your Company, in accordance with the provisions of Section 139 of the Act.

2. Statutory Auditors’ Report

The audit report issued by the statutory auditors on the standalone and consolidated financial 
statements of the Company for the financial year ended March 31, 2023, is self-explanatory 
and doesn’t require any explanation or comment from the Board under Section 134(3)(f) of the 
Companies Act, 2013 except on the following:
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(ii) Extract from the auditor’s report on the consolidated financial statements:

Relevant Extract - Auditors’ Report

Qualifications or adverse remarks by the respective auditors in the Companies (Auditors Report) 
Order (CARO) reports of the companies included in the consolidated financial statements are: 
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Management Response

In respect of slight delays in payment of statutory dues, the Company and its subsidiaries have 
further strengthened the processes to ensure timely payments of all statutory dues. The delay in 
payment of goods and services tax was primarily due to delays in getting registration in more than 
13 states which were necessitated by changes in goods and services tax law.

In case of Provident Fund there was an employee whose KYC was not linked with his UAN due to 
which the Company was not able to deposit his PF.

3. Secretarial Auditors

DPV & Associates LLP, Company Secretaries (ICSI Firm Registration No. L2021DE009500) 
(“Secretarial Auditors”), carried out the secretarial audit of the Company for the financial year under 
review in compliance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 read with the rules made 
thereunder, Foreign Exchange Management Act, 1999, as amended and other laws specifically 
applicable to your Company. The Secretarial Audit Report in Form MR - 3 for the financial year 
ended March 31, 2023, is attached to this report as Annexure - 4.

The audit report issued by the Secretarial Auditors for the financial year ended March 31, 2023, is 
self-explanatory and doesn’t require any explanation or comment from the Board under Section 
134(3)(f) of the Companies Act, 2013.

VI. Other Disclosures

1. Annual Return

In compliance with the provisions of Section 92(3) and Section 134(3)(a) of the Companies Act, 
2013 read with the rules made thereunder, a copy of the Company’s Annual Return as of March 
31, 2023, is available on the Investor Relations Section of ixigo’s website at https://www.ixigo.com/

2. Prevention and prohibition of sexual harassment of women at the workplace

At Le Travenues Technology Limited, we are committed to providing a healthy work environment 
that is free of discrimination and unlawful harassment and that enables employees to work without 
fear of prejudice, gender bias, and sexual harassment. In keeping with this commitment, your 
Company expressly and strictly prohibits any form of employee harassment based on race, colour, 
religion, sex, national origin, age, disability, or status in any group protected by state or local law. 
The Company has always endeavoured for providing a better and safe environment free of sexual 
harassment at all its workplaces.

Your Company had complied with the provisions of the Sexual Harassment of Women at Workplace 
(Prevention, Prohibition and Redressal) Act, 2013 (“Act”) and Rules made thereunder, relating to the 
constitution of the Internal Complaints Committee and had continued conducting workshops and 
awareness programs for sensitizing the employees with the provisions of the Act during the year 
under review.
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For the year ended March 31, 2023, no cases of sexual harassment were reported to the Internal 
Complaints Committee constituted by the Company.

3. Conservation of Energy, Technology Absorption, Foreign Exchange Earnings, and Outgo

The particulars as required under the provisions of Section 134(3)(m) of the Companies Act, 2013 
read with Rule 8 of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014 in respect of conservation of energy, 
technology absorption, foreign exchange earnings, and outgo, etc. are set out in Annexure - 5 
which forms part of this report.

4. Awards and accreditations

Following are some of the key awards, accreditations, and recognition received by your Company 
and its founders during the year under review.
•	 Two of ixigo Group apps, ixigo Trains App and ConfirmTkt, featured in Top 10 Downloaded Travel         

Apps (Worldwide and India) in 2022, as per Data.ai;
•	 Deloitte Technology Fast 50 India Winner;
•	 DMA Echo Award 2022 ‘Bronze’ for Best Marketing Campaign;
•	 The Pride of India Brand Award by Exchange4Media recognizing leading brands building for 

Bharat;
•	 Best Small Budget Campaign award by ET Trendies for the video “Agla Station Mars.”

5. Non-applicability of maintenance of cost records

The Central Government has not prescribed the maintenance of cost records under Section 148(1) 
of the Companies Act, 2013 read with the rules made thereunder with respect to the business 
carried on by the Company.

6. Reporting of Fraud

The Auditors of your Company have not reported any instances of fraud committed in your 
Company by its officers or employees as specified under Sub- Section (12) of Section 143 of the 
Companies Act, 2013.

7. Significant and material orders passed by the regulators, courts, or tribunals

There are no significant or material orders passed by the regulators, courts, or tribunals which 
would impact the going concern status of the Company and its operations in the future.
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8. Compliance with Secretarial Standards on Board and General Meetings

During the year under review, your Company has complied with all the applicable provisions of 
Secretarial Standard - 1 and Secretarial Standard - 2 issued by the Institute of Company Secretaries 
of India.

9. Change in the nature of business carried on by the Company

During the year under review, there has been no change in the nature of business carried on by 
the Company.

10. Insolvency and Bankruptcy Code, 2016

During the year under review, no application has been made and no proceeding is pending against 
the Company under the Insolvency and Bankruptcy Code, 2016.

11. One-time settlement with any bank or financial institution

During the year under review, there was no instance of any one-time settlement with any bank or 
financial institution.

VII. Acknowledgement and Appreciation

Your directors take this opportunity to thank the customers, employees, investors, vendors, banks, 
business associates, and regulatory authorities including the various offices of the Central and State 
Governments, Reserve Bank of India, and the Registrar of Companies for the support, valuable 
assistance and co-operation continuously extended to the Company. Your Directors gratefully 
acknowledge the trust and confidence and look forward to their continued support in the future.

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of
Le Travenues Technology Limited

Sd/-
Aloke Bajpai
(Chairman, Managing Director & Group CEO)
DIN: 00119037
Date: July 13, 2023
Place: Gurugram
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Annexure - 1

Form AOC-1
Statement containing salient features of the financial statement of

subsidiaries/associate companies/joint ventures
(Pursuant to first proviso to sub-section (3) of section 129 read with rule 5 of

Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014)

Part “A”: Subsidiaries

(Information in respect of each subsidiary to be presented with amounts in Rs. millions)

1. Names of subsidiaries which are yet to commence operations - Nil
2. Names of subsidiaries which have been liquidated or sold during the year - Nil
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Part “B”: Associates and Joint Venture

The Company doesn’t have an Associate / Joint Venture Company - Not Applicable

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of
Le Travenues Technology Limited

Sd/-
Aloke Bajpai 
(Chairman,
Managing Director 
& Group CEO)
DIN: 00119037

Sd/-
Rajnish Kumar 
(Director &
Group CPTO)
DIN: 02834454

Sd/-
Rahul Gautam 
(Group Chief 
Financial Officer)

Sd/-
Suresh Kumar 
Bhutani (Group 
General Counsel 
& Company 
Secretary)
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Annexure - 2

FORM NO. AOC - 2

Particulars of contracts or arrangements made with related parties
[Pursuant to Clause (h) of Sub-section (3) of Section 134 of the Companies Act,

2013, and Rule 8(2) of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014 - AOC-2]

This Form pertains to the disclosure of particulars of contracts/arrangements entered into by the 
Company with related parties referred to in sub-section (1) of Section 188 of the Companies Act, 
2013 including certain arm’s length transactions under third proviso thereto.

Details of contracts or arrangements or transactions not at arm’s length basis

Details of material contracts or arrangements or transactions at arm’s length basis

The term material is not defined under the Companies Act, 2013, and the rules made thereunder. 
However, it was defined under the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and 
Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 as follows till March 31, 2023:

“A transaction with a related party shall be considered material if the transaction(s) to be entered 
into individually or taken together with previous transactions during a financial year, exceeds ten 
percent of the annual consolidated turnover of the listed entity as per the last audited financial 
statements of the listed entity.”

During the year under review, your Company had not entered into any arrangement/transaction/
contract with its related parties which could be considered material and required approval of the 
Board. Accordingly, the disclosure of the particulars of the related party transactions in form AOC 
-2 as required under Section 134(3)(h) of the Act is not applicable.
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For further details on related party transactions, please refer to the notes to the financial statements.

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of
Le Travenues Technology Limited

Sd/-
Aloke Bajpai
(Chairman, Managing Director & Group CEO)
DIN: 00119037

Date: July 13, 2023
Place: Gurugram

(a) Name(s) of the related party and nature of 
relationship
(b) Nature of contracts / arrangements / 
transactions
(c) Duration of the contracts / arrangements / 
transactions
(d) Salient terms of the contracts or arrangements 
or transactions including the value, if any
(e) Date(s) of approval by the Board, if any
(f) Amount paid as advances, if any

The aggregate value of other 
related party transactions during 
the year ended March 31, 2023, is 
less than 10% of the revenue from 
operations for the year ended 
March 31, 2023.

Given the same, the details 
required herein are not applicable
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Annexure - 3

Details relating to Prevailing ESOS in compliance with the provisions of Section 62(1)(b) of 
the Companies Act, 2013 read with Clause (9) of Rule 12 of the Companies (Share Capital and 
Debentures) Rules, 2014.

Details with respect to the Prevailing ESOS as of March 31, 2023, are as follows:

The shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on August 05, 2021, 
had granted the approval to issue equity shares of the Company of the face value of ₹1 each 
(hereinafter referred to as the “Bonus Shares”) to the members of the Company, in the proportion 
of 399 equity shares for every 1 equity share held by them on the record date. The shareholders 
had further authorised the Board to determine appropriate adjustments for the allotment of Bonus 
Shares as aforesaid, to the outstanding options granted to the employees of the Company under 
the prevailing employee stock option schemes of the Company such that the exercise price for 
all outstanding options as on the record date shall be proportionately adjusted and the number of 
options granted but not exercised as on ‘record date’ shall be appropriately adjusted. In compliance 
with the approval granted by the shareholders for making appropriate adjustments for the Bonus 
Issue to the outstanding options granted but not exercised under the prevailing employee stock 
option schemes of the Company, the Board had approved on August 24, 2021, revising the total 
number of options granted but not exercised from 1 to 400 and the exercise price for all the revised 
number of options shall be accordingly adjusted to ₹1.25 and ₹0.50 as the case may be. All values 
in the below table have been adjusted for reflecting the impact of the said revision:
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The options granted under the Prevailing ESOS vest over a period of one year / four years in 
equal annual installments of 25% each as per the terms of the respective grants under each of 
the Prevailing ESOS. The exercise period is five years from the date of respective vesting of each 
Option. The Source of shares is primary for allotment upon exercise of options by an employee.

For further details please refer to Note No. 37 of the Standalone Financial Statements and Note No. 
38 of the Consolidated Financial Statements which form an integral part of the Annual Report.

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of
Le Travenues Technology Limited

Sd/-
Aloke Bajpai
(Chairman, Managing Director & Group CEO)
DIN: 00119037

Date: July 13, 2023
Place: Gurugram
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Annexure - 4

SECRETARIAL AUDIT REPORT
For the Financial Year ended on March 31, 2023

[Pursuant to Section 204(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 and Rule No. 9 of the Companies 
(Appointment and Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014]

To,
The Members
Le Travenues Technology Limited
(CIN: U63000HR2006PLC071540)
Second Floor, Veritas Building, Sector - 53,
Golf Course Road, Gurugram - 122 002, Haryana, India

We have conducted the Secretarial Audit of the compliance of applicable statutory provisions and 
the adherence to good corporate practices by Le Travenues Technology Limited (hereinafter 
called the “Company”), which is an unlisted public company. Secretarial Audit was conducted in 
a manner that provided us a reasonable basis for evaluating the corporate conducts/ statutory 
compliances and expressing our opinion thereon.

Based on our verification of the Company’s books, papers, minutes books, forms and returns filed 
and other records maintained by the Company and also the information provided by the Company, 
its officers, agents, and authorized representatives during the conduct of the secretarial audit, we 
hereby report that in our opinion, the Company has, during the audit period covering the financial 
year ended on 31st March 2023 (“Audit Period”) complied with the statutory provisions listed 
hereunder and also that the Company has proper Board processes and compliance mechanism in 
place to the extent, in the manner and subject to the reporting made hereinafter:

We have examined the books, papers, minute books, forms and returns filed and other records 
maintained by the Company for the Audit Period according to the provisions of:

(i) The Companies Act, 2013 (the “Act”) and the rules made thereunder (“Rules”);

(ii) The Depositories Act, 1996, and the Regulations and Bye-laws framed thereunder;

(iii) Foreign Exchange Management Act, 1999, and the rules and regulations made thereunder to 
the extent of Foreign Direct Investment, Overseas Direct Investment, wherever applicable.

(iv) The Company is a technology company primarily engaged in the business of providing travel 
and tourism related e-commerce services through its website and various mobile applications 
including ticket bookings for airlines, railways, buses, and hotel reservations. As informed by 
the management, the Company needs to comply with sector specific guidelines/laws i.e., IATA 
Guidelines for Agents and the Information Technology Act, 2000, in addition to other laws 
applicable to the Company.
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We have also examined compliance with the applicable clauses of the Secretarial Standard on 
Meetings of the Board of Directors and on General Meetings issued by the Institute of Company 
Secretaries of India, with which the Company has generally complied with.

We report that the Company has complied with the provisions of the Act, Rules, Regulations, 
Standards and Guidelines, to the extent applicable, as mentioned above during the Audit Period 
and the Company was generally regular in filing with the Registrar of Companies and the Reserve 
Bank of India.

We further report that the board of directors of the Company is duly constituted with an optimum 
combination of executive and non-executive directors, women director, and independent directors. 
There were no changes in the composition of the Board during the Audit Period.

The meetings of the Board and/or Committee Meetings were held on shorter notices in 
compliance with the provisions of the Act read with Secretarial Standard - 1 and the agenda and 
detailed notes on the agenda were sent accordingly and a system exists for seeking and obtaining 
further information and clarifications on the agenda items before the meeting and for meaningful 
participation at the meeting.

All decisions at Board meetings and committee meetings were carried out with the requisite 
majority as recorded in the minutes of the meetings of the Board or committee of the Board, as 
the case may be.

We further report that there are adequate systems and processes in the Company commensurate 
with the size and operations of the Company to monitor and ensure compliance with all applicable 
laws, rules, regulations, standards and guidelines.

We report further that during the period under review:

•	 The members at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on October 12, 2022, 
approved the reclassification of authorised share capital of the Company from ₹50,00,00,000/- 
(Rupees Fifty Crore only) comprising of 45,00,00,000 (Forty-Five Crore) Equity Shares of ₹1/- 
(Rupee One only) each and 1,00,00,000 (One Crore) Preference Shares of ₹5/- (Rupees Five 
only) each to ₹ 50,00,00,000/- (Rupees Fifty Crore only) divided into 50,00,00,000 (Fifty Crore) 
Equity Shares of ₹ 1/- (Rupee One only) each and consequently, Memorandum of Association 
of the Company was altered. 
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•	 The Board of Directors allotted 14,55,968 equity shares of the nominal value of ₹ 1/- (Rupee 
One only) each from time to time during the Audit Period, consequent upon the exercise of 
options granted under the Employees Stock Option Scheme of the Company i.e. Le Travenues 
Technology - Employees Stock Option Scheme 2012; Le Travenues Technology - Employees 
Stock Option Scheme 2013; Le Travenues Technology - Employees Stock Option Scheme 2016, 
Le Travenues Technology - Employees Stock Option Scheme 2020 and Le Travenues Technology 
- Employees Stock Option Scheme 2021.

For DPV & Associates LLP
Company Secretaries

Firm Reg. No.: L2021DE009500
Peer Review Certificate No. 2792/2022

Devesh Kumar Vasisht
Managing Partner

CP No.:13700 / Mem. No. F8488
UDIN: F008488E000598473

This report is to be read with our letter of even date which is annexed as Annexure and 
forms an integral part of this report.

Date: July 13, 2023
Place: New Delhi
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Annexure to the Secretarial Audit Report

To,
The Members
Le Travenues Technology Limited
(CIN: U63000HR2006PLC071540)
Second Floor, Veritas Building, Sector - 53,
Golf Course Road, Gurugram - 122 002, Haryana, India

Our report of even date is to be read along with this letter: 

1. Maintenance of secretarial records is the responsibility of the management of the Company. 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on those secretarial records based on our audit. 

2. We have followed the audit practices and processes as were appropriate to obtain reasonable 
assurance about the correctness of the contents of the secretarial records. The verification was 
done on a test-check basis to ensure that the correct facts are reflected in the secretarial records. 

3. We believe that the process and practices we followed provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

4. We have not verified the correctness and appropriateness of the financial records and books 
of accounts of the Company. 

5. Wherever required, we have obtained Management Representation about the compliance of 
laws, rules, and regulations and the happening of events, etc. The compliance of the provisions of 
corporate and other applicable laws, rules, regulations, and standards is the responsibility of the 
management. Our examination was limited to the verification of procedures on a test-check basis. 

6. The Secretarial Audit Report is neither an assurance as to the future viability of the Company 
nor of the efficacy or effectiveness with which the management has conducted the affairs of the 
Company.

For DPV & Associates LLP
Company Secretaries

Firm Reg. No.: L2021DE009500
Peer Review Certificate No. 2792/2022

Devesh Kumar Vasisht
Managing Partner

CP No.:13700 / Mem. No. F8488
UDIN: F008488E000598473

Date: July 13, 2023
Place: New Delhi
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Annexure - 5
Conservation of Energy, Technology Absorption, Foreign Exchange

Earnings and Outgo

Particulars, as prescribed by Section 134(3)(m) of the Companies Act, 2013, read with Rule 8(3) of 
the Companies (Account) Rules, 2014, in respect of conservation of energy, technology absorption, 
and foreign exchange earnings and outgo, to the extent applicable to the Company, are given 
below:

a) Conservation of Energy

(i) Steps taken or impact on the conservation of energy

Though your Company does not have an energy-intensive operation, every endeavour has been 
made to ensure the optimal usage of energy, avoid wastage and conserve energy. 

(ii) Steps taken by the Company for utilising alternate sources of energy

Le Travenues being a technology company, its operations are not energy- intensive, and the energy 
consumption and energy costs constitute a very small portion of the total cost. The steps taken by 
the Company for utilising alternate sources of energy are not significant.

(iii) The capital investment in energy conservation equipment

We constantly evaluate new technologies and make appropriate investments to be energy 
efficient for example using energy-efficient equipment and devices, replacing CFL fittings with 
LEDs fittings to reduce power consumption, and timely preventive maintenance of equipment. The 
air is conditioned with energy-efficient compressors for central air conditioning and with split air 
conditioning for localized areas.

b) Technology Absorption & Research and Development

We are a technology-driven company and our technology platforms have been designed to deliver 
a high level of reliability, security, scalability, integration, and innovation. Our technology team has 
adopted a continuous improvement, high- frequency testing approach to our business, aimed at 
improving both traffic and conversion rates while maintaining reliability. We use our technology 
infrastructure to improve the user experience and optimize the efficiency of our business 
operations.

We have developed our platforms in-house which has enabled us to better manage our product 
and service offerings and improve operating efficiencies by integrating our sales, delivery, and 
user service functions. Your Company has incurred expenses of approximately ₹190.31 million on a 
standalone basis and ₹223.02 million on a consolidated basis during the period under review
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towards technology and related costs.

c) Foreign exchange earnings and outgo

The total foreign exchange used and earned by the Company during the year as compared with 
the previous year is as follows:

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of
Le Travenues Technology Limited

Sd/
Aloke Bajpai
(Chairman, Managing Director & Group CEO)
DIN: 00119037

Date: July 13,2023
Place: Gurugram
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Members of Le Travenues Technology Limited
Report on the Audit of the Standalone Financial Statements

Opinion
We have audited the accompanying Standalone financial statements of Le Travenues Technology 
Limited (“the Company”), which comprise the Balance sheet as at March 31, 2023, the Statement of 
Profit and Loss, including the statement of Other Comprehensive Income, the Cash Flow Statement 
and the Statement of Changes in Equity for the year then ended, and notes to the Standalone 
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information.

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the 
aforesaid Standalone financial statements give the information required by the Companies Act, 
2013, as amended (“the Act”) in the manner so required and give a true and fair view in conformity 
with the accounting principles generally accepted in India, of the state of affairs of the Company as 
at March 31, 2023, its profit including other comprehensive income, its cash flows and the changes 
in equity for the year ended on that date.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit of the Standalone financial statements in accordance with the Standards 
on Auditing (SAs), as specified under section 143(10) of the Act. Our responsibilities under those 
Standards are further described in the ‘Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Standalone 
Financial Statements’ section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance 
with the ‘Code of Ethics’ issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India together with the 
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements under the provisions 
of the Act and the Rules thereunder, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements and the Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence 
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on the 
Standalone financial statements.

Other Information
The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the other information. The other information 
comprises the information included in the Directors report, but does not include the standalone 
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the Standalone financial statements does not cover the other information and we 
do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the Standalone financial statements, our responsibility is to read 
the other information and, in doing so, consider whether such other information is materially 
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that 
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We 
have nothing to report in this regard.
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Responsibility of Management for the Standalone Financial Statements

The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the matters stated in section 134(5) of the 
Act with respect to the preparation of these Standalone financial statements that give a true and 
fair view of the financial position, financial performance including other comprehensive income, 
cash flows and changes in equity of the Company in accordance with the accounting principles 
generally accepted in India, including the Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) specified under 
section 133 of the Act read with the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as 
amended . This responsibility also includes maintenance of adequate accounting records in 
accordance with the provisions of the Act for safeguarding of the assets of the Company and for 
preventing and detecting frauds and other irregularities; selection and application of appropriate 
accounting policies; making judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and 
the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls, that were 
operating effectively for ensuring the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, 
relevant to the preparation and presentation of the Standalone financial statements that give a 
true and fair view and are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the Standalone financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to 
liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
Those Board of Directors are also responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting 
process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Standalone Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Standalone financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these Standalone financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional 
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

•	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the Standalone financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those 
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than 
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. Under section 143(3)(i) of the Act, we 
are also responsible for expressing our opinion on whether the Company has adequate internal 
financial controls with reference to financial statements in place and the operating effectiveness 
of such controls.
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•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required 
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements 
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on 
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

•	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the Standalone financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the Standalone financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with 
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all 
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and 
where applicable, related safeguards.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

1. As required by the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2020 (“the Order”), issued by the Central 
Government of India in terms of sub-section (11) of section 143 of the Act, we give in the “Annexure 
1” a statement on the matters specified in paragraphs 3 and 4 of the Order.

2. As required by Section 143(3) of the Act, we report that:

(a) We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our 
knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit;

(b) In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law have been kept by the Company so 
far as it appears from our examination of those books;

(c) The Balance Sheet, the Statement of Profit and Loss including the Statement of Other 
Comprehensive Income, the Cash Flow Statement and Statement of Changes in Equity dealt with 
by this Report are in agreement with the books of account;

(d) In our opinion, the aforesaid Standalone financial statements comply with the Accounting 
Standards specified under Section 133 of the Act, read with Companies (Indian Accounting 
Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended;
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(e) On the basis of the written representations received from the directors as on March 31, 2023 
taken on record by the Board of Directors, none of the directors is disqualified as on March 31, 2023 
from being appointed as a director in terms of Section 164 (2) of the Act;

(f) With respect to the adequacy of the internal financial controls with reference to these Standalone 
financial statements and the operating effectiveness of such controls, refer to our separate Report 
in “Annexure 2” to this report;

(g) In our opinion, the managerial remuneration for the year ended March 31, 2023 has been paid 
/ provided by the Company to its directors in accordance with the provisions of section 197 read 
with Schedule V to the Act;

(h) With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor’s Report in accordance with Rule 
11 of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, as amended in our opinion and to the best of 
our information and according to the explanations given to us:

i. The Company does not have any pending litigations which would impact its financial position;

ii. The Company did not have any long-term contracts including derivative contracts for which 
there were any material foreseeable losses;

iii. There were no amounts which were required to be transferred to the Investor Education and 
Protection Fund by the Company.

iv.  a) The management has represented that, to the best of its knowledge and belief, no funds have 
been advanced or loaned or invested (either from borrowed funds or share premium or any other 
sources or kind of funds) by the Company to or in any other person(s) or entity(ies), including foreign 
entities (“Intermediaries”), with the understanding, whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that 
the Intermediary shall, whether, directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities 
identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Company (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or 
provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries;

b) The management has represented that, to the best of its knowledge and belief, no funds have 
been received by the Company from any person(s) or entity(ies), including foreign entities (“Funding 
Parties”), with the understanding, whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that the Company 
shall, whether, directly or indirectly, lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any 
manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Funding Party (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provide any 
guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries; and

c) Based on such audit procedures performed that have been considered reasonable and 
appropriate in the circumstances, nothing has come to our notice that has caused us to believe 
that the representations under sub-clause (a) and (b) contain any material misstatement.
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v. No dividend has been declared or paid during the year by the Company.

vi. As proviso to Rule 3(1) of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014 is applicable for the Company 
only w.e.f. April 1, 2023, reporting under this clause is not applicable.

For S.R. Batliboi & Associates LLP 
Chartered Accountants
ICAI Firm Registration Number: 101049W/E300004

Sd/-
per Yogender Seth
Partner
Membership Number: 94524
UDIN: 23094524BGYICG3613
Place of Signature: Gurugram
Date: 13th July, 2023
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Annexure 1 referred to in paragraph 1 of the section on “Report on Other Legal and Regulatory 
Requirements” of our report of even date

Re: Le Travenues Technology Limited (“the Company”)

i.(a) (A) The Company has maintained proper records showing full particulars, including quantitative 
details and situation of Property, Plant and Equipment.

(B) The Company has maintained proper records showing full particulars of intangibles assets.

(b) Property, Plant and Equipment have been physically verified by the management during the 
year and no material discrepancies were identified on such verification.

(c) There is no immovable property (other than properties where the Company is the lessee and the 
lease agreements are duly executed in favour of the lessee), held by the Company and accordingly, 
the requirement to report on clause 3(i)(c) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

(d) The Company has not revalued its Property, Plant and Equipment (including Right of use assets) 
or intangible assets during the year ended March 31, 2023.

(e) There are no proceedings initiated or are pending against the Company for holding any 
benami property under the Prohibition of Benami Property Transactions Act, 1988 and rules made 
thereunder.

ii. (a) The Company’s business does not require maintenance of inventories and, accordingly, the 
requirement to report on clause 3(ii)(a) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

(b) As disclosed in note 16 to the financial statements, the Company has been sanctioned working 
capital limits in excess of Rs. five crores in aggregate from banks and/or financial institutions during 
the year on the basis of security of current assets of the Company. The terms of the working 
capital limits requires the Company to file only an annual statement. The Company has submitted 
the required statements with the banks.

iii. (a) During the year the Company has provided advances in the nature of loans to its employees. 
and company which are as follows:

Particulars

Aggregate amount granted/ provided during the year:
- Loans to employees

Balance outstanding as at balance sheet date in respect of 
above cases:
- Loans to employees

Loans to employees

24.80 Mn

24.80 Mn
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b. During the year the company has made investments and provided loan to employees. The terms 
and conditions of the investments to companies and loan provided to employees are not prejudicial 
to the Company’s interest.

c. The Company has granted loans during the year to employees, where the schedule of repayment 
of principal has been stipulated. However no repayment were due in the current year.

d. There are no amounts of loans and advances in the nature of loans granted to companies, firms, 
limited liability partnerships or any other parties which are overdue for more than ninety days.

e. There were no loans or advance in the nature of loan granted to employees which was fallen due 
during the year, that have been renewed or extended or fresh loans granted to settle the overdues 
of existing loans given to the same parties.

f. The Company has not granted any loans, either repayable on demand or without specifying 
any terms or period of repayment to companies, firms, Limited Liability Partnerships or any other 
parties. Accordingly, the requirement to report on clause 3(iii)(f) of the Order is not applicable to 
the Company.

iv. Loans, investments, guarantees and security in respect of which provisions of sections 185 and 
186 of the Companies Act, 2013 are applicable have been complied with by the Company.

v. The Company has neither accepted any deposits from the public nor accepted any amounts 
which are deemed to be deposits within the meaning of sections 73 to 76 of the Companies Act 
and the rules made thereunder, to the extent applicable. Accordingly, the requirement to report on 
clause 3(v) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

vi. The Company is not in the business of sale of any goods or provision of such services as 
prescribed. Accordingly, the requirement to report on clause 3(vi) of the Order is not applicable to 
the Company.

vii. (a) Undisputed statutory dues including provident fund, employees’ state insurance, 
income-tax, sales-tax, service tax, duty of custom, duty of excise, value added tax, cess and 
other statutory dues have generally been regularly deposited with the appropriate authorities 
though there has been a slight delays in a few cases for Provident fund and Goods and service 
tax. According to the information and explanations given to us and based on audit procedures 
performed by us, undisputed dues in respect of provident fund which is outstanding, at the year 
end, for a period of more than six months from the date they became payable, are as follows:

Statement of Arrears of Statutory Dues Outstanding for More than Six Month:

Name of 
the Statute

Nature of 
the Dues

Provident 
Fund

Amount 
(Rs.)

22500

Due 
Date

May 22 
to Oct 

Remarks, if 
any

Date of 
Payment

-

Period to which the amount 
relates

April to September 2022Provident 
Fund
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(b) There are no dues of goods and services tax, provident fund, employees’ state insurance, 
income tax, sales-tax, service tax, customs duty, excise duty, value added tax, cess, and other 
statutory dues which have not been deposited on account of any dispute.

viii. The Company has not surrendered or disclosed any transaction, previously unrecorded in the 
books of account, in the tax assessments under the Income Tax Act, 1961 as income during the 
year. Accordingly, the requirement to report on clause 3(viii) of the Order is not applicable to the 
Company.

ix. (a) The Company has not defaulted in repayment of loans or other borrowings or in the payment 
of interest thereon to any lender.

(b) The Company has not been declared wilful defaulter by any bank or financial institution or 
government or any government authority.

(c) The Company did not have any term loans outstanding during the year hence, the requirement 
to report on clause (ix)(c) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

(d) On an overall examination of the financial statements of the Company, no funds raised on short- 
term basis have been used for long-term purposes by the Company.

(e) On an overall examination of the financial statements of the Company, the Company has 
not taken any funds from any entity or person on account of or to meet the obligations of its 
subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures.

(f) The Company has not raised loans during the year on the pledge of securities held in its 
subsidiaries, joint ventures or associate companies. Hence, the requirement to report on clause 
(ix)(f) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

x. (a) The Company has not raised any money during the year by way of initial public offer / further 
public offer (including debt instruments) hence, the requirement to report on clause 3(x)(a) of the 
Order is not applicable to the Company.

(b) The Company has not made any preferential allotment or private placement of shares /fully 
or partially or optionally convertible debentures during the year under audit and hence, the 
requirement to report on clause 3(x)(b) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

xi. (a) No fraud/ material fraud by the Company or no fraud / material fraud on the Company has 
been noticed or reported during the year.

(b) During the year, no report under sub-section (12) of section 143 of the Companies Act, 2013 has 
been filed by secretarial auditor or by us in Form ADT – 4 as prescribed under Rule 13 of Companies 
(Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014 with the Central Government.

(c) As represented to us by the management, there are no whistle blower complaints received by 
the Company during the year.
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xii. The Company is not a nidhi Company as per the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013. Therefore, 
the requirement to report on clause 3(xii)(a) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

(b) The Company is not a nidhi company as per the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013. Therefore, 
the requirement to report on clause 3(xii)(b) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

(c) The Company is not a nidhi company as per the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013. Therefore, 
the requirement to report on clause 3(xii)(c) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

xiii. Transactions with the related parties are in compliance with sections 188 of Companies Act, 
2013 where applicable and the details have been disclosed in the notes to the financial statements, 
as required by the applicable accounting standards. The provisions of section 177 are not applicable 
to the Company and accordingly the requirements to report under clause 3(xiii) of the Order insofar 
as it relates to section 177 of the Act is not applicable to the Company.

xiv. (a) The Company has an internal audit system commensurate with the size and nature of its 
business.

(b) The internal audit reports of the Company issued till the date of the audit report, for the period 
under audit have been considered by us.

xv. The Company has not entered into any non-cash transactions with its directors or persons 
connected with its directors and hence requirement to report on clause 3(xv) of the Order is not 
applicable to the Company.

xvi. (a) The provisions of section 45-IA of the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934 (2 of 1934) are not 
applicable to the Company. Accordingly, the requirement to report on clause (xvi)(a) of the Order 
is not applicable to the Company.

(b) The Company is not engaged in any Non-Banking Financial or Housing Finance activities. 
Accordingly, the requirement to report on clause (xvi)(b) of the Order is not applicable to the 
Company.

(c) The Company is not a Core Investment Company as defined in the regulations made by Reserve 
Bank of India. Accordingly, the requirement to report on clause 3(xvi) of the Order is not applicable 
to the Company.

(d) There is no Core Investment Company as a part of the Group, hence, the requirement to report 
on clause 3(xvi)(d) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

xvii. The Company has not incurred cash losses in the current financial year. The Company incurred 
cash losses amounting to INR 131.57 Mn in the immediately preceding financial year.

xviii. There has been no resignation of the statutory auditors during the year and accordingly 
requirement to report on Clause 3(xviii) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.
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xix. On the basis of the financial ratios disclosed in note 44 to the financial statements, ageing 
and expected dates of realization of financial assets and payment of financial liabilities, other 
information accompanying the financial statements, our knowledge of the Board of Directors and 
management plans and based on our examination of the evidence supporting the assumptions, 
nothing has come to our attention, which causes us to believe that any material uncertainty exists 
as on the date of the audit report that Company is not capable of meeting its liabilities existing at 
the date of balance sheet as and when they fall due within a period of one year from the balance 
sheet date. We, however, state that this is not an assurance as to the future viability of the Company. 
We further state that our reporting is based on the facts up to the date of the audit report and we 
neither give any guarantee nor any assurance that all liabilities falling due within a period of one 
year from the balance sheet date, will get discharged by the Company as and when they fall due.

xx. (a) The provisions of Section 135 to the Companies Act, 2013 in relation to Corporate Social 
Responsibility is not applicable to the Company. Accordingly, the requirement to report on clause 
3(xx)(a) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

(b) The provisions of Section 135 to the Companies Act, 2013 in relation to Corporate Social 
Responsibility is not applicable to the Company. Accordingly, the requirement to report on clause 
3(xx)(b) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

For S.R. Batliboi & Associates LLP 
Chartered Accountants
ICAI Firm Registration Number: 101049W/E300004

Sd/-
per Yogender Seth
Partner
Membership Number: 94524
UDIN: 23094524BGYICG3613
Place of Signature: Gurugram
Date: 13th July, 2023
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ANNEXURE 2 TO THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT OF EVEN DATE ON THE STANDALONE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF LE TRAVENUES TECHNOLOGY LIMITED LIMTED

Report on the Internal Financial Controls under Clause (i) of Sub-section 3 of Section 143 of 
the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”)

We have audited the internal financial controls with reference to standalone financial statements 
of Le Travenues Technology Limited (“the Company”) as of March 31, 2023 in conjunction with our 
audit of the standalone financial statements of the Company for the year ended on that date.

Management’s Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls
The Company’s Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining internal financial 
controls based on the internal control over financial reporting criteria established by the Company 
considering the essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of 
Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants 
of India (“ICAI”). These responsibilities include the design, implementation and maintenance of 
adequate internal financial controls that were operating effectively for ensuring the orderly and 
efficient conduct of its business, including adherence to the Company’s policies, the safeguarding 
of its assets, the prevention and detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy and completeness 
of the accounting records, and the timely preparation of reliable financial information, as required 
under the Companies Act, 2013.

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal financial controls with 
reference to these standalone financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting 
(the “Guidance Note”) and the Standards on Auditing, as specified under section 143(10) of the 
Act, to the extent applicable to an audit of internal financial controls, both issued by ICAI. Those 
Standards and the Guidance Note require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan 
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether adequate internal financial 
controls with reference to these standalone financial statements was established and maintained 
and if such controls operated effectively in all material respects.

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the 
internal financial controls with reference to these standalone financial statements and their 
operating effectiveness. Our audit of internal financial controls with reference to standalone 
financial statements included obtaining an understanding of internal financial controls with 
reference to these standalone financial statements, assessing the risk that a material weakness 
exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based 
on the assessed risk. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion on the Company’s internal financial controls with reference to these 
standalone financial statements.

Standalone Financial Statements



ixigo Annual report | 69

Meaning of Internal Financial Controls With Reference to these standalone Financial 
Statements
A company’s internal financial controls with reference to standalone financial statements is a 
process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting 
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal financial controls with reference to standalone 
financial statements includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of 
records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of 
the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as 
necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only 
in accordance with authorisations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide 
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorised acquisition, use, or 
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls With Reference to standalone Financial 
Statements
Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls with reference to standalone 
financial statements, including the possibility of collusion or improper management override 
of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also, 
projections of any evaluation of the internal financial controls with reference to standalone financial 
statements to future periods are subject to the risk that the internal financial control with reference 
to standalone financial statements may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or 
that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Opinion
In our opinion, the Company has, in all material respects, adequate internal financial controls with 
reference to standalone financial statements and such internal financial controls with reference 
to standalone financial statements were operating effectively as at March 31, 2023, based on 
the internal control over financial reporting criteria established by the Company considering the 
essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note issued by the ICAI.

For S.R. Batliboi & Associates LLP 
Chartered Accountants
ICAI Firm Registration Number: 101049W/E300004

Sd/-
per Yogender Seth
Partner
Membership Number: 94524
UDIN: 23094524BGYICG3613
Place of Signature: Gurugram
Date: 13th July, 2023
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Le Travenues Technology Limited (Formerly Known as “ Le Travenues Technology Private 
Limited”)
Notes to financial statements for the period ended 31 March 2023

(All amounts in INR millions, unless otherwise stated)

1. Corporate Information

Le Travenues Technology Limited (formerly known as Le Travenues Technology Private Limited) 
(hereinafter referred as “the Company”) was incorporated on 3 June 2006 as a private limited 
company in New Delhi, India. The Company is engaged in the business of running an online 
platform named www.ixigo.com and ixigo mobile applications for providing information and 
booking services for the travel industry across trains, airlines, buses, hotels and cabs in real-time. 
The registered office of the Company is located at 2nd Floor, Veritas Building, Golf Course Road 
Sector- 53, Gurgaon 122002. On Aug 03, 2021, the Registrar of Companies, Delhi, has accorded 
their approval to change the name of the Company from Le Travenues Technology Private Limited 
to Le Travenues Technology Limited and granted it status of public company as per the Companies 
Act, 2013.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies

2.1 Basis of preparation

The financial statements of the Company have been prepared to comply in all material respects 
with the Indian Accounting Standards (“Ind AS”) notified under the Companies (Indian Accounting 
Standards) Rules, 2015 and Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) amendment Rules 2016 
(as amended from time to time), presentation requirements of Division II of Schedule III to the 
Companies Act, 2013, (Ind AS compliant Schedule III), as applicable to the SFS and other relevant 
provisions of the Act.

The Company prepared its financial statements in accordance with accounting standards notified 
under the section 133 of the Companies Act 2013, read together with paragraph 7 of the Companies 
(Accounts) Rules, 2014 (“previous GAAP” or “Indian GAAP”). The figures for the previous periods 
and for the year ended March 31, 2023 have been restated, regrouped and reclassified, wherever 
required to comply with Ind-AS and Schedule III to the Companies Act, 2013.

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for the following 
assets and liabilities which have been measured at fair value or revalued amount:

•	 Derivative financial instruments,
•	 Certain financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value (refer accounting policy regarding 

financial instruments).

These financial statements are authorized for issue by the Board of directors on July 13, 2023.

The accounting policies, as set out in the following paragraphs of this note, have been consistently 
applied, by the Company, to all the periods presented in the said financial statements.
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The preparation of the said financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting 
estimates and judgements. It also requires the management to exercise judgement in the process 
of applying the Company’s accounting policies. The areas where estimates are significant to the 
financial statements, or areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, are disclosed 
in Note 3.

All the amounts included in the financial statements are reported in millions of Indian Rupees and 
are rounded to the nearest thousands, except per share data and unless stated otherwise.

2.2 Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price at the measurement date at which an asset can be sold or paid to transfer a 
liability, in an orderly transaction between market participants. The Company’s accounting policies 
require, measurement of certain financial/ non-financial assets and liabilities at fair values (either 
on a recurring or non-recurring basis). Also, the fair values of financial instruments measured at 
amortised cost are required to be disclosed in the said financial statements.

The Company is required to classify the fair valuation method of the financial/ non-financial assets 
and liabilities, either measured or disclosed at fair value in the financial statements, using a three-
level fair value hierarchy (which reflects the significance of inputs used in the measurement). 
Accordingly, the Company uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances 
and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant 
observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are described below:
Level 1: Quoted (unadjusted) prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets
Level 2: Significant inputs to the fair value measurement are directly or indirectly observable 
Level 3: Significant inputs to the fair value measurement are unobservable.

2.3 Current versus non-current classification

The Company presents assets and liabilities in the balance sheet based on current / non-current 
classification.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets and liabilities.

An asset is classified as current when it is expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed 
in normal operating cycle, held primarily for the purpose of trading, expected to be realised within 
twelve months after the reporting period, or cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being 
exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least twelve months after the reporting period. All 
other assets are classified as non-current assets.

A liability is classified as current when it is expected to be settled in normal operating cycle, it is 
held primarily for the purpose of trading, it is due to be settled within twelve months after the
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reporting period, or there is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least 
twelve months after the reporting period. All other liabilities are classified as non-current liabilities.

The operating cycle is the time between the acquisition of assets for processing and their realisation 
in cash and cash equivalents. The company has identified twelve months as its operating cycle.

2.4 Property, plant and equipment (‘PPE’)

An item is recognised as an asset, if and only if, it is probable that the future economic benefits 
associated with the item will flow to the Company and its cost can be measured reliably. PPE 
are initially recognised at cost. The initial cost of PPE comprises purchase price (including non-
refundable duties and taxes but excluding any trade discounts and rebates), borrowing costs if 
capitalization criteria are met and directly attributable cost of bringing the asset to its working 
condition for the intended use. Following initial recognition, PPE are carried at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as separate assets, as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that the future economic benefits associated with expenditure 
will flow to the Company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. When significant parts 
of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Company recognises 
such components separately and depreciates them based on their specific useful lives. All other 
repairs and maintenance are charged to Statement of Profit and Loss at the time of incurrence.

Gains or losses arising from de-recognition of PPE are measured as the difference between the 
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognized in the statement 
of profit and loss when the asset is derecognized.

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated on a written down value method using 
the rates arrived at based on the useful lives estimated by the management which are in line with 
the useful lives prescribed in Schedule II of the Companies Act, 2013.

The Company has used the following useful lives to provide depreciation on its PPE.

Particulars

Computers
Office equipment
Furniture and fixtures

Years

3 to 6
5
10
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The useful lives, residual values and depreciation method of PPE are reviewed, and adjusted 
appropriately, at-least as at each reporting date so as to ensure that the method and period of 
depreciation are consistent with the expected pattern of economic benefits from these assets. The 
effects of any change in the estimated useful lives, residual values and / or depreciation method are 
accounted prospectively, and accordingly the depreciation is calculated over the PPE’s remaining 
revised useful life. The cost and the accumulated depreciation for PPE sold, scrapped, retired or 
otherwise disposed off are derecognised from the balance sheet and the resulting gains / (losses) 
are included in the statement of profit and loss within other expenses / other income.

2.5 Intangible assets

Identifiable intangible assets are recognised when the Company controls the asset, it is probable 
that future economic benefits attributed to the asset will flow to the Company and the cost of the 
asset can be measured reliably.

Intangible assets are measured on initial recognition at cost. Following initial recognition, intangible 
assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses, if 
any.

Intangible assets are amortized on a straight line basis over the estimated useful economic life. 
The Company amortizes intangible assets (Technology related costs and software) over the best 
estimate of its useful life which is 3-5 years. The costs related to planning and post implementation 
phases of development are expensed as incurred. Expenditure on research activities are recognized 
in the Statement of Profit and Loss as incurred.

Development activities relate to production of new or substantially improved products and 
processes. Development expenditure incurred on an individual project is recognized as an 
intangible asset when the company can demonstrate all the following:

•	 The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or 
sale

•	 Its intention to complete the asset and its ability and intention to use or sell the asset
•	 How the asset will generate future economic benefits
•	 The availability of adequate resources to complete the development and to use or sell the asset
•	 The ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during   

development.

The amortization period and the amortization method are reviewed at least at each financial year 
end. If the expected useful life of the asset is significantly different from previous estimates, the 
amortization period is changed accordingly. If there has been a significant change in the expected 
pattern of economic benefits from the asset, the amortization method is changed to reflect 
the changed pattern. Such changes are accounted prospectively in accordance with Ind AS 8 - 
Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors.

Gains or losses arising from de-recognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognized in 
the statement of profit and loss when the asset is derecognized.
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2.6 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that are subject to depreciation and amortization are reviewed for impairment, whenever 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable 
or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required. Such circumstances include, though 
are not limited to, significant or sustained decline in revenues or earnings and material adverse 
changes in the economic environment.

An impairment loss is recognized whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating 
unit exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its fair 
value less costs to sell and value in use. To calculate value in use, the estimated future cash flows 
are discounted to their present value using a pre- tax discount rate that reflects current market 
rates and the risks specific to the asset. For an asset that does not generate largely independent 
cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the 
asset belongs. Fair value less costs to sell is the price that would be received to sell an asset or 
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants, less the costs of 
disposal.

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually at year end and when circumstances indicate that the 
carrying value may be impaired.

Impairment is determined for goodwill by assessing the recoverable amount of CGU to which the 
goodwill relates. When the recoverable amount of the CGU is less than it’s carrying amount, an 
impairment loss is recognised.

2.7 Leases

The Company assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, 
if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in 
exchange for consideration.

Where the Company is the lessee

The Company applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for 
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. The Company recognizes lease liabilities to 
make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets.
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A. Right-of-use assets

The Company recognizes right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., 
the date the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, 
less any accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, and adjusted for any 
remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease 
liabilities recognized, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the 
commencement date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term.

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Company at the end of the lease term or the cost 
reflects the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful 
life of the asset.

The right-of-use assets are also subject to impairment. Refer to the accounting policies in section 
2.6 Impairment of non-financial assets.

B. Lease Liabilities

At the commencement date of the lease, the Company recognizes lease liabilities measured at 
the present value of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include 
fixed payments (including in substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, 
variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under 
residual value guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option 
reasonably certain to be exercised by the Company and payments of penalties for terminating 
the lease, if the lease term reflects the Company exercising the option to terminate. Variable lease 
payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as expenses (unless they are 
incurred to produce inventories) in the period in which the event or condition that triggers the 
payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Company uses its incremental borrowing 
rate at the lease commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily 
determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect 
the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying 
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a 
change in the lease payments (e.g., changes to future payments resulting from a change in an 
index or rate used to determine such lease payments) or a change in the assessment of an option 
to purchase the underlying asset.

C. Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Company applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of 
machinery and equipment (i.e., those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the 
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the lease of low-value 
assets recognition exemption to leases of office equipment that are considered to be low value. 
Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense 
on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
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Where the Company is the lessor

Leases in which the Company does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership of an asset are classified as operating leases. Rental income arising is accounted for on 
a straight-line basis over the lease terms. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging 
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the 
lease term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the 
period in which they are earned.

2.8 Borrowing cost

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset 
that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are 
capitalized as part of the cost of the respective asset. All other borrowing costs are expensed in 
the period they occur. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in 
connection with the borrowing of funds. Borrowing cost also includes exchange differences to the 
extent regarded as an adjustment to the borrowing costs.

2.9 Financial instruments

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial 
liability or equity instrument of another entity.

(i) Financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

All financial assets are recognized initially at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable 
to the acquisition of financial assets (other than financial assets at fair value through profit or loss) 
are added to the fair value measured on initial recognition of financial asset. Purchase and sale of 
financial assets are accounted for at settlement date.

Subsequent measurement

The Company determines the classification of its financial instruments at initial recognition. 
Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost, 
fair value through other comprehensive income (OCI), and fair value through profit or loss.

Financial assets at amortized cost

A financial instrument is measured at the amortized cost if both the following conditions are met:

a) The asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets for collecting 
contractual cash flows, and

b) Contractual terms of the asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments 
of principal and interest (SPPI) on the principal amount outstanding.
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After initial measurement, such financial assets are subsequently measured at amortized cost 
using the effective interest rate (EIR) method. Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account 
any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The 
EIR amortization is included in other income in the statement of profit and loss. The losses arising 
from impairment are recognized in the statement of profit and loss. This category includes cash 
and bank balances, loans, unbilled revenue, trade and other receivables.

Financial assets at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income (‘FVTOCI’)

A financial instrument is classified and measured at fair value through OCI if both of the following 
criteria are met:

a) The objective of the business model is achieved both by collecting contractual cash flows and 
selling the financial assets, and

b) The asset’s contractual cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest.

Financial instruments included within the OCI category are measured initially as well as at each 
reporting date at fair value. Fair value movements are recognized in OCI. On derecognition of the 
asset, cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in OCI is reclassified from OCI to statement 
of profit and loss.

Financial assets at Fair Value through Profit and Loss (‘FVTPL’)

Any financial instrument, which does not meet the criteria for categorization at amortized cost or 
at fair value through other comprehensive income, is classified at fair value through profit and loss. 
Financial instruments included in the fair value through profit and loss category are measured at 
fair value with all changes recognized in the statement of profit and loss.

Equity investments

The Company recognises its investment in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures at cost less 
any impairment losses. The said investments are tested for impairment whenever circumstances 
indicate that their carrying values may exceed the recoverable amount (viz. higher of the fair value 
less costs to sell and the value-in-use). A call option over shares in an acquired subsidiary is initially 
recognised as a financial asset at its fair value, with any subsequent changes in the fair value of the 
option recognised in profit or loss. Where a call option is exercised, the financial asset (or financial 
liability) is derecognised with an adjustment to the cost of investment of purchasing the shares 
subject to the option.

All equity investments in scope of Ind AS 109 are measured at fair value. Equity instruments which 
are held for trading are classified as at FVTPL. For all other equity instruments, the Company may 
make an irrevocable election to present in other comprehensive income subsequent changes 
in the fair value. The Company makes such election on an instrument-by-instrument basis. The 
classification is made on initial recognition and is irrevocable.
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If the Company decides to classify an equity instrument as at FVTOCI, then all fair value changes 
on the instrument, excluding dividends, are recognized in the OCI. There is no recycling of the 
amounts from OCI to P&L, even on sale of investment.

Equity instruments included within the FVTPL category are measured at fair value with all changes 
recognized in the statement of profit & loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset is primarily derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the asset 
have expired, or the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset.

Impairment of financial assets

The Company recognizes loss allowances using the expected credit loss (ECL) model for the 
financial assets which are not fair valued through profit and loss. Lifetime ECL allowance is 
recognized for trade receivables with no significant financing component. For all other financial 
assets, expected credit losses are measured at an amount equal to the 12-month ECL, unless 
there has been a significant increase in credit risk from initial recognition in which case they are 
measured at lifetime ECL. The amount of expected credit losses (or reversal) that is required to 
adjust the loss allowance at the reporting date is recognized in the statement of profit and loss.

The Company follows simplified approach for recognition of impairment loss allowance on trade 
receivables. The application of simplified approach does not require the company to track changes 
in credit risk. Rather, it recognizes impairment loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each 
reporting date, right from its initial recognition.

ii) Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

All financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value. The Company’s financial liabilities include 
trade payables and other payables.

Subsequent measurement

After initial recognition, financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the 
effective interest rate (EIR) method. Gains and losses are recognized in the statement of profit and 
loss when the liabilities are derecognized as well as through the EIR amortization process.

Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and 
fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortization is included as finance costs 
in the statement of profit and loss.
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Financial liabilities at amortised cost

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the EIR method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the 
liabilities are derecognised as well as through the EIR amortisation process. Amortised cost is 
calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that 
are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance costs in the statement of 
profit and loss.
This category generally applies to borrowings. For more information refer Note 16.

Derecognition

A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled 
or expires.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the balance 
sheet if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is 
an intention to settle on a net basis, to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

2.10 Revenue from contract with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of the goods or services are 
transferred to the customer at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company 
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that economic benefits will flow to the 
Company and revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of 
consideration received or receivable, taking into account contractually defined terms of payment 
and excluding taxes and duty.

The Company assesses its revenue arrangement against specific criteria in order to determine if it 
is acting as principal or agent. The Company has concluded that it is acting as agent in case of sale 
of Airline tickets, Train tickets and Bus tickets as the supplier is primarily responsible forproviding 
the underlying travel services and the Company does not control the service provided by the 
supplier to the traveller. Traveller is also referred as end user.
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Income from services

A. Ticketing revenue

Convenience fees from reservation of rail tickets, airlines tickets and bus tickets is recognized on 
earned basis, as the Company does not assume any performance obligation post the confirmation 
of the issuance of the ticket to the customer.

Commission income earned from air ticketing and bus ticketing services is recognized on a net 
basis as an agent on the date of completion of performance obligation by the Company which is 
date of issuance of ticket in case of sale of airline/bus tickets.

Revenue from free cancellations option given to the traveller is recognized on actual cancellations.

 Amounts paid to the traveller as benefit are included under customer refunds in other expenses.

The Company has measured the revenue in respect of its performance obligation of a contract at 
its standalone selling price. The price that is regularly charged for an item when sold separately is 
the best evidence of its standalone selling price.

The specific recognition criteria described below is also considered before revenue is recognised.
Cost incurred on ticketing revenue from third party is recorded as distribution cost/partner 
support cost.

B. Advertisement Services

The revenue from the advertising services rendered is recognized when the services have been 
rendered, the price is fixed or determinable and collectability is reasonably assured.

Advertisement Referral - Revenue is derived primarily from click-through fees charged to travel 
partners for traveller leads sent to the travel partner’s website. In certain contracts revenue is 
recognized on actual bookings made on travel partner’s website by the traveller for leads referred 
by the Company.

Advertisement Revenue - Display advertising revenue is recognized rateably over the advertising 
period or upon delivery of advertising impressions, depending on the terms of the advertising 
contract.

C. Income from facilation

Revenue earned for facilitating website access to travel insurance companies are being recognized 
as the services are being performed.

Income from technical support fee is recognized on accrual basis as services are rendered as per 
the terms specified in the service contracts.

Revenue is recognized net of allowances for cancellations, refunds during the period and taxes.
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Revenue is allocated between the loyalty program and the other components of the sale. The 
amount allocated to the loyalty program is deferred and is recognized as revenue when the 
Company fulfils its obligations to supply the products/services under the terms of the program.

The company also incurs customer inducement and acquisition costs for acquiring customers and 
promoting transactions across various booking platforms such as upfront cash incentives which 
were incurred are recorded as a reduction from revenue.

Interest Income

For all debt instruments measured at amortized cost, interest income is recorded using the 
effective interest rate (EIR). Other interest income is recognized on a time proportion basis taking 
into account the amount outstanding and the interest rate applicable.

Contract balances

Contract assets

A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange for goods or services transferred to 
the customer. If the Company performs by transferring goods or services to a customer before 
the customer pays consideration or before payment is due, a contract asset is recognised for the 
earned consideration that is conditional.

Trade Receivables

A receivable represents the Company’s right to an amount of consideration that is unconditional 
(i.e., only the passage of time is required before payment of the consideration is due). Refer to 
accounting policies of financial assets in section (2.9) Financial instruments.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the 
Company has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer. If 
a customer pays consideration before the Company transfers goods or services to the customer, 
a contract liability is recognised when the payment is made or the payment is due (whichever 
is earlier). Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Company performs under the 
contract.

Refund liabilities

A refund liability is recognised for the obligation to refund some or all of the consideration received 
from the traveller. The Company’s refund liabilities arise from traveller’ right of return. The Company 
updates its estimates of refund liabilities (and the corresponding change in the transaction price) 
at the end of each reporting period.
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2.11 Foreign currencies

The financial statements are presented in Indian Rupees which is the functional and presentational 
currency of the Company.

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the relevant functional currency at the 
rates prevailing at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are translated into the functional currency at the closing exchange rate prevailing as at 
the reporting date with the resulting foreign exchange differences, on subsequent restatement/ 
settlement, recognized in the statement of profit and loss within other expenses/ other income.

2.12 Employee benefits (Retirement & Other Employee benefits)

Retirement benefit in the form of Provident Fund is a defined contribution scheme and the 
Company has no obligation, other than the contribution payable to the provident fund. The 
Company recognizes contribution payable to the provident fund scheme as an expenditure, when 
an employee renders the related service. If the contribution payable to the scheme for service 
received before the balance sheet date exceeds the contribution already paid, the deficit payable 
to the scheme is recognized as a liability after deducting the contribution already paid.

The Company operates defined benefit plan for its employees, viz., gratuity. The costs of providing 
benefits under the plan are determined on the basis of actuarial valuation at each year-end. 
Actuarial valuation is carried out for using the projected unit credit method. In accordance with 
the local laws and regulations, all the employees in India are entitled for the Gratuity plan. The 
said plan requires a lump-sum payment to eligible employees (meeting the required vesting 
service condition) at retirement or termination of employment, based on a pre-defined formula. 
The obligation towards the said benefits is recognised in the balance sheet, at the present value 
of the defined benefit obligations less the fair value of plan assets (being the funded portion). 
The present value of the said obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash 
outflows, using interest rates of government bonds. The interest income / (expense) are calculated 
by applying the above-mentioned discount rate to the plan assets and defined benefit obligations 
liability. The net interest income / (expense) on the net defined benefit liability is recognised in the 
statement of profit and loss. However, the related re-measurements of the net defined benefit 
liability are recognised directly in the other comprehensive income in the period in which they 
arise. The said re-measurements comprise of actuarial gains and losses (arising from experience 
adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions), the return on plan assets (excluding interest). 
Re-measurements are not re-classified to the statement of profit and loss in any of the subsequent 
periods.

Accumulated leave, which is expected to be utilized within the next 12 months, is treated as short-
term employee benefit. The Company measures the expected cost of such absences as the 
additional amount that it expects to pay as a result of the unused entitlement that has accumulated 
at the reporting date.

Standalone Financial Statements



ixigo Annual report | 89

The Company treats accumulated leave expected to be carried forward beyond twelve months, as 
long-term employee benefit for measurement purposes. Such long-term compensated absences 
are provided for based on the actuarial valuation using the projected unit credit method at the 
year-end. Actuarial gains/losses are immediately taken to the statement of profit and loss and are 
not deferred.

The Company presents the leave as a current liability in the balance sheet, to the extent it does not 
have an unconditional right to defer its settlement for 12 months after the reporting date. Where 
Company has the unconditional legal and contractual right to defer the settlement for a period 
beyond 12 months, the same is presented as non-current liability.

2.13 Share-based payments

Employees (including senior executives) of the company receive remuneration in the form of share 
based payment transactions, whereby employees render services as consideration for equity 
instruments (equity-settled transactions).

The cost of equity-settled transactions is determined by the fair value at the date when the grant 
is made using an appropriate valuation model. Further details are given in Note 37.

That cost is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in share-based payment (SBP) 
reserves in equity, over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled 
in employee benefits expense. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions 
at each reporting date until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has 
expired and the Company’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately 
vest. The expense or credit in the statement of profit and loss for a period represents the movement 
in cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period and is recognised in 
employee benefits expense.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into account when determining 
the grant date fair value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as 
part of the Company’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. 
Market performance conditions are reflected within the grant date fair value. Any other conditions 
attached to an award, but without an associated service requirement, are considered to be non-
vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value of an award and lead to 
an immediate expensing of an award unless there are also service and/or performance conditions.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market performance 
and/or service conditions have not been met. Where awards include a market or non-vesting 
condition, the transactions are treated as vested irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting 
condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Standalone Financial Statements



ixigo Annual report | 90

When the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, the minimum expense recognised is 
the grant date fair value of the unmodified award, provided the original vesting terms of the 
award are met. An additional expense, measured as at the date of modification, is recognised 
for any modification that increases the total fair value of the share-based payment transaction, 
or is otherwise beneficial to the employee. Where an award is cancelled by the entity or by the 
counterparty, any remaining element of the fair value of the award is expensed immediately 
through profit or loss.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation 
of diluted earnings per share.

2.14 Income taxes
The income tax expense comprises of current and deferred income tax. Income tax is recognised 
in the statement of profit and loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in the 
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the related income tax is also 
recognised accordingly.

a. Current tax

The current tax is calculated on the basis of the tax rates, laws and regulations, which have been 
enacted or substantively enacted as at the reporting date. The payment made in excess / (shortfall) 
of the Company’s income tax obligation for the period are recognised in the balance sheet as 
current income tax assets / liabilities. Any interest, related to accrued liabilities for potential tax 
assessments are not included in Income tax charge or (credit), but are rather recognised within 
finance costs.

Current income tax assets and liabilities are off-set against each other and the resultant net 
amount is presented in the balance sheet, if and only when, (a) the Company currently has a legally 
enforceable right to set-off the current income tax assets and liabilities, and (b) when it relates 
to income tax levied by the same taxation authority and where there is an intention to settle the 
current income tax balances on net basis.

The Company periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect to situations 
in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where 
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

b. Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between 
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying values in the financial statements.
Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit 
will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carry forward of 
unused tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent 
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary 
differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised.
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The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part 
of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are re-assessed at each 
reporting date and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable 
profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the 
year when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have 
been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

2.15 Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the profit or loss for the period attributable 
to equity shareholders by the weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the 
period. The weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the period is adjusted 
for events such as bonus issue, bonus element in a rights issue, share split, and reverse share split 
(consolidation of shares) that have changed the number of equity shares outstanding, without a 
corresponding change in resources.

For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share, the net profit or loss for the period 
attributable to equity shareholders and the weighted average number of shares outstanding 
during the period are adjusted for the effects of all dilutive potential equity shares.

2.16 Provisions

A provision is recognized when the Company has a present obligation as a result of past event, it 
is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle 
the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are 
not discounted to their present value if the effect of time value of money is not material and are 
determined based on the best estimate required to settle the obligation at the reporting date. 
These estimates are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best 
estimates.

Where the Company expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example under 
an insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognized as a separate asset but only when the 
reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to any provision is presented in the 
statement of profit and loss net of any reimbursement.

2.17 Contingent liabilities

A disclosure for a contingent liability is made when there is a possible obligation or a present 
obligation that may, but probably will not, require an outflow of resources. When there is a possible 
obligation or a present obligation in respect of which the likelihood of outflow of resources is 
remote, no provision or disclosure is made. The Company does not recognize a contingent liability 
but discloses its existence in financial statements.
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2.18 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and in hand and short-term deposits with an 
original maturity of three months or less (that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash 
and cash equivalents and subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value) and funds in transit. 
However, for the purpose of the statement of cash flows, in addition to above items, any bank 
overdrafts / cash credits that are integral part of the Company’s cash management, are also 
included as a component of cash and cash equivalents.

2.19 Segment reporting policies

Identification of segments – Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the 
internal reporting provided to the Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM). Only those business 
activities are identified as operating segment for which the operating results are regularly reviewed 
by the CODM to make decisions about resource allocation and performance measurement. For 
details Refer Note 36.

3. Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

The estimates used in the preparation of the said financial statements are continuously evaluated 
by the Company and are based on historical experience and various other assumptions and factors 
(including expectations of future events), that the Company believes to be reasonable under the 
existing circumstances. The said estimates are based on the facts and events, that existed as at the 
reporting date, or that occurred after that date but provide additional evidence about conditions 
existing as at the reporting date. Although the Company regularly assesses these estimates, actual 
results could differ materially from these estimates - even if the assumptions underlying such 
estimates were reasonable when made, if these results differ from historical experience or other 
assumptions do not turn out to be substantially accurate. The changes in estimates are recognized 
in the financial statements in the period in which they become known.

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at 
the reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described below. Actual results 
could differ from these estimates.

a. Fair value of financial instruments

When the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the balance sheet cannot
be measured based on quoted prices in active markets, their fair value is measured using valuation 
techniques including the present valuation technique. The inputs to these models are taken from 
observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgement is required 
in establishing fair values. Judgements include considerations of inputs such as liquidity risk, credit 
risk and volatility. Changes in assumptions about these factors could affect the reported fair value 
of financial instruments. For details, refer to note 39.
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b. Taxes
Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that 
taxable profit will be available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant management 
judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, 
based upon the likely timing and the level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning 
strategies.

c. Allowance for uncollectible trade receivables and advances (Refer Note 10)
Trade receivables do not carry any interest and are stated at their nominal value as reduced by 
appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts. Estimated irrecoverable amounts 
are based on the ageing of the receivable balances and historical experience. Additionally, a large 
number of minor receivables is grouped into homogeneous groups and assessed for impairment 
collectively. Individual trade receivables are written off when management deems them not to be 
collectible are provided in note 10.

d. Defined benefit plans
The costs of post retirement benefit obligation under the Gratuity plan are determined using 
actuarial valuations. An actuarial valuation involves making various assumptions that may differ 
from actual developments in the future. These include the determination of the discount rate, 
future salary increase, mortality rates and future pension increases. Due to the complexities 
involved in the valuation and its long term nature, a defined benefit obligation is highly sensitive to 
changes in these assumptions. All assumptions are reviewed at each reporting date. For details, 
refer to note 33.

e. Contingencies
The management judgement of contingencies is based on the internal assessments and opinion 
from the consultants for possible outflow of resources, if any.
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3.1 Standards notified but not yet effective

Ministry of Corporate Affairs (“MCA”) notifies new standards or amendments to the existing 
standards under Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules as issued from time to time. On 
March 31, 2023, MCA amended the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Amendment Rules, 
2023, as below:

(i) Ind AS 1 - Presentation of Financial Statements
This amendment requires the entities to disclose their material accounting policies rather than 
their significant accounting policies. The effective date for adoption of this amendment is annual 
periods beginning on or after April 1, 2023. The Company has evaluated the amendment and the 
impact of the amendment is insignificant in the standalone financial statements.

(ii) Ind AS 8 - Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors
This amendment has introduced a definition of ‘accounting estimates’ and included amendments 
to Ind AS 8 to help entities distinguish changes in accounting policies from changes in accounting 
estimates. The effective date for adoption of this amendment is annual periods beginning on 
or after April 1, 2023. The Company has evaluated the amendment and there is no impact on its 
standalone financial statements.

(iii) Ind AS 12 - Income Taxes
This amendment has narrowed the scope of the initial recognition exemption so that it does not 
apply to transactions that give rise to equal and offsetting temporary differences. The effective date 
for adoption of this amendment is annual periods beginning on or after April 1, 2023. The Company 
has evaluated the amendment and there is no impact on its standalone financial statement.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Members of Le Travenues Technology Limited

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Le Travenues 
Technology Limited (hereinafter referred to as “the Holding Company”) and its subsidiaries (the 
Holding Company and its subsidiaries together referred to as “the Group”) comprising of the 
consolidated Balance sheet as at March 31 2023, the consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss 
and the consolidated Cash Flow Statement for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated 
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information (hereinafter referred to as “the consolidated financial statements”).

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the 
aforesaid consolidated financial statements give the information required by the Companies Act, 
2013, as amended (“the Act”) in the manner so required and give a true and fair view in conformity 
with the accounting principles generally accepted in India, of the consolidated state of affairs of 
the Group as at March 31, 2023, their consolidated profit and their consolidated cash flows for the 
year ended on that date.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with the Standards 
on Auditing (SAs), as specified under section 143(10) of the Act. Our responsibilities under those 
Standards are further described in the ‘Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements’ section of our report. We are independent of the Group, associates and joint 
ventures in accordance with the ‘Code of Ethics’ issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants 
of India together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial 
statements under the provisions of the Act and the Rules thereunder, and we have fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code of Ethics. We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our audit opinion on the consolidated financial statements.

Other Information

The Holding Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the other information. The other 
information comprises the information included in the director’s report, but does not include the 
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we 
do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read 
the other information and, in doing so, consider whether such other information is materially 
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
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otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we 
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report 
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The Holding Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and presentation of 
these consolidated financial statements in terms of the requirements of the Act that give a true and 
fair view of the consolidated financial position, consolidated financial performance and consolidated 
cash flows of the Group including in accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted 
in India, including the Companies (Accounting Standards) Rules, 2006 specified under section 
133 of the Act, read with the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014 (as amended). The respective 
Board of Directors of the companies included in the Group are responsible for maintenance of 
adequate accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the Act for safeguarding of 
the assets of the Group and for preventing and detecting frauds and other irregularities; selection 
and application of appropriate accounting policies; making judgments and estimates that are 
reasonable and prudent; and the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal 
financial controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring the accuracy and completeness of 
the accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements that give a true and fair view and are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, which have been used for the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements by the Board of Directors of the Holding Company, as aforesaid.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the respective Board of Directors of the 
Companies included in the Group are responsible for assessing the ability of the Group to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those respective Board of Directors of the companies included in the Group are also responsible 
for overseeing the financial reporting process of the Group.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:
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•	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, 
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The 
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or 
the override of internal control.

•	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. Under section 143(3)(i) of the Act, we 
are also responsible for expressing our opinion on whether the Holding Company has adequate 
internal financial controls with reference to financial statements in place and the operating 
effectiveness of such controls.

•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the ability of the Group and 
its associates and joint ventures to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related 
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the 
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group and its 
associates and joint ventures to cease to continue as a going concern.

•	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

•	 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities 
or business activities within the Group of which we are the independent auditors and whose 
financial information we have audited, to express an opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the audit 
of the financial statements of such entities included in the consolidated financial statements 
of which we are the independent auditors. For the other entities included in the consolidated 
financial statements, which have been audited by other auditors, such other auditors remain 
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the audits carried out by them. 
We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance of the Holding Company and such other 
entities included in the consolidated financial statements of which we are the independent auditors 
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit 
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with 
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all 
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and 
where applicable, related safeguards.
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Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

1. As required by the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2020 (“the Order”), issued by the Central 
Government of India in terms of sub-section (11) of section 143 of the Act, we give in the “Annexure 
1” a statement on the matters specified in paragraphs 3(xxi) of the Order.

2. As required by Section 143(3) of the Act, we report, to the extent applicable, that:

(a) We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our 
knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit of the aforesaid consolidated 
financial statements;

(b) In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law relating to preparation of the 
aforesaid consolidation of the financial statements have been kept so far as it appears from our 
examination of those books;

(c) The Consolidated Balance Sheet, the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss and the 
Consolidated Cash Flow Statement dealt with by this Report are in agreement with the books of 
account maintained for the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial statements;

(d) In our opinion, the aforesaid consolidated financial statements comply with the Companies 
(Accounting Standards) Rules, 2006 specified under section 133 of the Act, read with the Companies 
(Accounts) Rules, 2014 (as amended);

(e) On the basis of the written representations received from the directors of the Holding Company 
as on March 31, 2023 taken on record by the Board of Directors of the Holding Company and the 
reports of the statutory auditors who are appointed under Section 139 of the Act, of its subsidiary 
companies, none of the directors of the Group’s companies incorporated in India is disqualified as 
on March 31, 2023 from being appointed as a director in terms of Section 164 (2) of the Act;

(f) With respect to the adequacy of the internal financial controls with reference to consolidated 
financial statements of the Holding Company and its subsidiary companies and the operating 
effectiveness of such controls, refer to our separate Report in “Annexure 2” to this report;

(g) In our opinion, the managerial remuneration for the year ended March 31, 2023 has been paid 
/ provided by the Holding Company and its subsidiaries incorporated in India to their directors in 
accordance with the provisions of section 197 read with Schedule V to the Act;

(h) With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor’s Report in accordance with Rule 
11 of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, as amended, in our opinion and to the best 
of our information and according to the explanations given to us:

i. The Group does not have any pending litigations which would impact its consolidated financial 
position;
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ii. The Group did not have any material foreseeable losses in long-term contracts including 
derivative contracts during the year ended March 31, 2023;

iii. There were no amounts which were required to be transferred to the Investor Education and 
Protection Fund by the Holding Company, its subsidiaries incorporated in India during the year 
ended March 31, 2023;

iv. a) The respective managements of the Holding Company and its subsidiaries which are 
companies incorporated in India whose financial statements have been audited under the Act 
have represented to us that, to the best of its knowledge and belief, no funds have been advanced 
or loaned or invested (either from borrowed funds or share premium or any other sources or kind 
of funds) by the Holding Company or any of such subsidiaries to or in any other person or entity, 
including foreign entities (“Intermediaries”), with the understanding, whether recorded in writing 
or otherwise, that the Intermediary shall, whether, directly or indirectly lend or invest in other 
persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the respective Holding 
Company or any of such subsidiaries (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provide any guarantee, security 
or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries;

b) The respective managements of the Holding Company and its subsidiaries which are companies 
incorporated in India whose financial statements have been audited under the Act have represented 
to us that, to the best of its knowledge and belief, , no funds have been received by the respective 
Holding Company or any of such subsidiaries from any person or entity, including foreign entities 
(“Funding Parties”), with the understanding, whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that the 
Holding Company or any of such subsidiaries shall, whether, directly or indirectly, lend or invest in 
other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Funding Party 
(“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate 
Beneficiaries; and

c) Based on the audit procedures that have been considered reasonable and appropriate in the 
circumstances performed by us for companies incorporated in India whose financial statements 
have been audited under the Act, nothing has come to our notice that has caused us to believe 
that the representations under sub-clause (a) and (b) contain any material mis-statement.

iv. No dividend has been declared or paid during the year by the Holding Company and its 
subsidiaries, incorporated in India.

For S.R. Batliboi & Associates LLP 
Chartered Accountants
ICAI Firm Registration Number: 101049W/E300004

Sd/-
per Yogender Seth
Partner
Membership Number: 94524
UDIN: 23094524BGYICH4017
Place of Signature: Gurugram
Date: 13th July, 2023
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Annexure 1 referred to in paragraph 1 of Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 
of our report of even date

Re: Consolidated financial statements of Le Travenues Technology Limited (“the Company”)
In terms of the information and explanations sought by us and given by the Company and its 
subsidiaries the books of account and records examined by us in the normal course of audit and to 
the best of our knowledge and belief, we state that:

(xxi) Qualifications by the respective auditors in the Companies (Auditors Report) Order (CARO) 
reports of the companies included in the consolidated financial statements are:

For S.R. Batliboi & Associates LLP 
Chartered Accountants
ICAI Firm Registration Number: 101049W/E300004

Sd/-
per Yogender Seth
Partner
Membership Number: 94524
UDIN: 23094524BGYICH4017
Place of Signature: Gurugram
Date: 13th July, 2023
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Annexure-2 to The Independent Auditor’s Report of even date on the consolidated financial 
statements of Le Travenues Technology Limited

Report on the Internal Financial Controls under Clause (i) of Sub-section 3 of Section 143 of 
the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”)

In conjunction with our audit of the consolidated financial statements of Le Travenues Technology 
Limited (hereinafter referred to as the “Holding Company”) as of and for the year ended March 
31, 2023, we have audited the internal financial controls , with reference to consolidated financial 
statements of the Holding Company which is company incorporated in India, as of that date.

Management’s Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls

The respective Board of Directors of the Holding Company, which is company incorporated in India, 
are responsible for establishing and maintaining internal financial controls based on the internal 
control over financial reporting criteria established by the Holding Company considering the 
essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial 
Controls Over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (ICAI). 
These responsibilities include the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal 
financial controls that were operating effectively for ensuring the orderly and efficient conduct 
of its business, including adherence to the respective company’s policies, the safeguarding of its 
assets, the prevention and detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy and completeness of the 
accounting records, and the timely preparation of reliable financial information, as required under 
the Act.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the company’s internal financial controls with 
reference to these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our 
audit in accordance with the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial 
Reporting (the “Guidance Note”) and the Standards on Auditing, specified under section 143(10) 
of the Act, to the extent applicable to an audit of internal financial controls, both, issued by ICAI,. 
Those Standards and the Guidance Note require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan 
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether adequate internal financial 
controls over financial reporting with reference to these consolidated financial statements was 
established and maintained and if such controls operated effectively in all material respects.

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the 
internal financial controls over financial reporting with reference to these consolidated financial 
statements and their operating effectiveness. Our audit of internal financial controls with reference 
to consolidated financial statements included obtaining an understanding of internal financial 
controls with reference to these consolidated financial statements, assessing the risk that a material 
weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal 
control based on the assessed risk. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, 
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error.
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained, is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion on the internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial 
statements.

Meaning of Internal Financial Controls With Reference to these consolidated financial 
statements

A company’s internal financial control with reference to these consolidated financial statements 
is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial 
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal financial control with reference to 
consolidated financial statements includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the 
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and 
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are 
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being 
made only in accordance with authorisations of management and directors of the company; 
and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorised 
acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the 
financial statements.

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting With Reference 
to these consolidated financial statements

Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls with reference to consolidated 
financial statements, including the possibility of collusion or improper management override 
of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also, 
projections of any evaluation of the internal financial controls with reference to consolidated 
financial statements to future periods are subject to the risk that the internal financial control with 
reference to these consolidated financial statements may become inadequate because of changes 
in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
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Opinion

In our opinion, the Holding Company, which is company incorporated in India, have, maintained 
in all material respects, adequate internal financial controls with reference to these consolidated 
financial statements and such internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial 
statements were operating effectively as at March 31, 2023, based on the internal control over 
financial reporting criteria established by the Holding Company considering the essential 
components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note issued by ICAI.

For S.R. Batliboi & Associates LLP 
Chartered Accountants
ICAI Firm Registration Number: 101049W/E300004

Sd/-
per Yogender Seth
Partner
Membership Number: 94524
UDIN: 23094524BGYICH4017
Place of Signature: Gurugram
Date: 13th July, 2023
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Le Travenues Technology Limited (Formerly Known as “ Le Travenues Technology Private 
Limited”)
Notes to Consolidated financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2023
(All amounts in INR millions, unless otherwise stated)

1. Corporate Information

The Group’s consolidated financial statements comprise financial statements of Le Travenues 
Technology Limited (formerly known as Le Travenues Technology Private Limited) (hereinafter 
referred as “the Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “the group”) for the year 
ended March 31,2023. The registered office of the Company is located at 2nd Floor, Veritas Building, 
Golf Course Road Sector- 53, Gurgaon 122002. On Aug 03, 2021, the Registrar of Companies, Delhi, 
has accorded their approval to change the name of the Company from Le Travenues Technology 
Private Limited to Le Travenues Technology Limited and granted it status of public company as per 
the Companies Act, 2013.

The Group is engaged in the business of running online platforms named www.ixigo.com, www.
confirmtkt.com, www.abhibus.com for providing information and booking services for the 
travel industry across airlines, trains, hotels, buses and cabs in real-time and www.freshbus.com 
for providing travel services with the fleet of electric buses that are technology powered and 
monitored on real time basis. The Group also provides software development and maintenance 
services to its customer.

The Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended March 31,2023, were approved 
for issue in accordance with a resolution of the directors on July 13, 2023.

1.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared to comply in all material 
respects with the Indian Accounting Standards (“Ind AS”) notified under the Companies (Indian 
Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 and Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) amendment 
Rules 2016 (as amended from time to time), presentation requirements of Division II of Schedule 
III to the Companies Act, 2013, (Ind AS compliant Schedule III), as applicable to the CFS and other 
relevant provisions of the Act.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for the 
following assets and liabilities which have been measured at fair value or revalued amount:
• Derivative financial instruments,
• Certain financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value (refer accounting policy regarding 
financial instruments).

The accounting policies, as set out in the following paragraphs of this note, have been consistently 
applied, by the Group, to all the periods presented in the said financial statements. The preparation 
of the said financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates and 
judgements. It also requires the management to exercise judgement in the process of applying the 
Group’s accounting policies. The areas where estimates are significant to the financial statements, 
or areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, are disclosed in Note 3.
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All the amounts included in the financial statements are reported in millions of Indian Rupees and 
are rounded to the nearest millions, except per share data and unless stated otherwise.

1.2 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its 
subsidiaries as at March 31,2023. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to 
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns 
through its power over the investee. Specifically, the Group controls an investee if and only if the 
Group has:

•	 Power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant 
activities of the investee)

•	 Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and
•	 The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights result in control. To support this 
presumption and when the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an 
investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has 
power over an investee, including:

•	 The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee
•	 Rights arising from other contractual arrangements
•	 The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights
•	 The size of the group’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of the holdings 

of the other voting rights holders

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate 
that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a 
subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group 
loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or 
disposed of during the period are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date 
the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Consolidated financial statements are prepared using uniform accounting policies for like 
transactions and other events in similar circumstances. If a member of the Group uses accounting 
policies other than those adopted in the consolidated financial statements for like transactions 
and events in similar circumstances, appropriate adjustments are made to that group member’s 
financial statements in preparing the consolidated financial statements to ensure conformity with 
the Group’s accounting policies.

The financial statements of all entities used for the purpose of consolidation are drawn up to same 
reporting date as that of the Company, i.e., year ended on 31 March 2023. When the end of the 
reporting period of the Company is different from that of a subsidiary, the subsidiary prepares, 
for consolidation purposes, additional financial information as of the same date as the financial 
statements of the parent to enable the Company to consolidate the financial information of the 
subsidiary, unless it is impracticable to do so.
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Consolidation procedure:

(a) Combine like items of assets, liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows of the parent 
with those of its subsidiaries. For this purpose, income and expenses of the subsidiary are based 
on the amounts of the assets and liabilities recognised in the consolidated financial statements at 
the acquisition date.

(b) Offset (eliminate) the carrying amount of the parent’s investment in each subsidiary and the 
parent’s portion of equity of each subsidiary. Business combinations policy explains how to account 
for any related goodwill.

(c) Eliminate in full intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows 
relating to transactions between entities of the Group (profits or losses resulting from intragroup 
transactions that are recognised in assets, such as inventory and fixed assets, are eliminated in 
full). Intragroup losses may indicate an impairment that requires recognition in the consolidated 
financial statements. Ind AS 12 Income Taxes applies to temporary differences that arise from the 
elimination of profits and losses resulting from intragroup transactions.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (OCI) are attributed to the 
equity holders of the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results 
in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. When necessary, adjustments are made to 
the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the Group’s 
accounting policies. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows 
relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies

2.1 Business combination and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is 
measured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred measured at acquisition date fair value 
and the amount of any non- controlling interests in the acquiree. For each business combination, 
the Group elects whether to measure the non- controlling interests in the acquiree at fair value or 
at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Acquisition- related costs are 
expensed as incurred.
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At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised 
at their acquisition date fair values. For this purpose, the liabilities assumed include contingent 
liabilities representing present obligation and they are measured at their acquisition fair values 
irrespective of the fact that outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is not probable. 
However, the following assets and liabilities acquired in a business combination are measured at 
the basis indicated below:

•	 Deferred tax assets or liabilities, and the assets or liabilities related to employee benefit 
arrangements are recognised and measured in accordance with Ind AS 12 Income Tax and Ind 
AS 19 Employee Benefits respectively.

•	 Potential tax effects of temporary differences and carry forwards of an acquiree that exist at 
the acquisition date or arise as a result of the acquisition are accounted in accordance with Ind 
AS 12.

•	 Liabilities or equity instruments related to share based payment arrangements of the acquiree 
or share – based payments arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share-based 
payment arrangements of the acquiree are measured in accordance with Ind AS 102 Share-
based Payments at the acquisition date.

•	 Assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with Ind AS 105 
Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance 
with that standard.

•	 Reacquired rights are measured at a value determined on the basis of the remaining contractual 
term of the related contract. Such valuation does not consider potential renewal of the 
reacquired right.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for 
appropriate classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic 
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of 
embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, any previously held equity interest is re-measured 
at its acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss or OCI, 
as appropriate.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is recognised at fair value at 
the acquisition date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability that is a financial 
instrument and within the scope of Ind AS 109 Financial Instruments, is measured at fair value with 
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. If the contingent consideration is not within the 
scope of Ind AS 109, it is measured in accordance with the appropriate Ind AS.

Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not re-measured at subsequent reporting 
dates and subsequent its settlement is accounted for within equity.
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Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration 
transferred and the amount recognised for non-controlling interests, and any previous interest 
held, over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.

If the fair value of the net assets acquired is in excess of the aggregate consideration transferred, 
the Group re- assesses whether it has correctly identified all of the assets acquired and all of the 
liabilities assumed and reviews the procedures used to measure the amounts to be recognised 
at the acquisition date. If the reassessment still results in an excess of the fair value of net assets 
acquired over the aggregate consideration transferred, then the gain is recognised in OCI 
and accumulated in equity as capital reserve. However, if there is no clear evidence of bargain 
purchase, the entity recognises the gain directly in equity as capital reserve, without routing the 
same through OCI.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. 
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the 
acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to 
benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are 
assigned to those units.

A cash generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually, 
or more frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable 
amount of the cash generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated 
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other 
assets of the unit pro rata based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment 
loss for goodwill is recognised in profit or loss. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not 
reversed in subsequent periods.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period 
in which the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which 
the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted through goodwill during the 
measurement period, or additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information 
obtained about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that, if known, would 
have affected the amounts recognized at that date. These adjustments are called as measurement 
period adjustments. The measurement period does not exceed one year from the acquisition date.

Liability for non-controlling interests

Liability for put option issued to non-controlling interests which do not grant present access to 
ownership interest to the Group is recognised at present value of the redemption amount and is 
reclassified from equity. At the end of each reporting period, the non-controlling interests subject 
to put option is derecognised and the difference between the amount derecognised and present 
value of the redemption amount, which is recorded as a financial liability, is accounted for as an 
equity transaction.
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2.2 Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price at the measurement date at which an asset can be sold or paid to transfer 
a liability, in an orderly transaction between market participants. The Group’s accounting policies 
require, measurement of certain financial/ non-financial assets and liabilities at fair values (either 
on a recurring or non-recurring basis). Also, the fair values of financial instruments measured at 
amortised cost are required to be disclosed in the said financial statements.

The Group is required to classify the fair valuation method of the financial/ non-financial assets 
and liabilities, either measured or disclosed at fair value in the financial statements, using a three-
level fair value hierarchy (which reflects the significance of inputs used in the measurement). 
Accordingly, the Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for 
which sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable 
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are described below:

Level 1: Quoted (unadjusted) prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets
Level 2: Significant inputs to the fair value measurement are directly or indirectly observable
Level 3: Significant inputs to the fair value measurement are unobservable.

2.3 Current versus non-current classification

The Group presents assets and liabilities in the balance sheet based on current / non-current 
classification.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets and liabilities.

An asset is classified as current when it is expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed 
in normal operating cycle, held primarily for the purpose of trading, expected to be realised within 
twelve months after the reporting period, or cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being 
exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least twelve months after the reporting period. All 
other assets are classified as non-current assets.

A liability is classified as current when it is expected to be settled in normal operating cycle, it is 
held primarily for the purpose of trading, it is due to be settled within twelve months after the 
reporting period, or there is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least 
twelve months after the reporting period. All other liabilities are classified as non-current liabilities.

The operating cycle is the time between the acquisition of assets for processing and their realisation 
in cash and cash equivalents. The group has identified twelve months as its operating cycle.
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2.4 Property, plant and equipment (‘PPE’)

An item is recognised as an asset, if and only if, it is probable that the future economic benefits 
associated with the item will flow to the Group and its cost can be measured reliably. PPE are initially 
recognised at cost. The initial cost of PPE comprises purchase price (including non-refundable 
duties and taxes but excluding any trade discounts and rebates), borrowing costs if capitalization 
criteria are met and directly attributable cost of bringing the asset to its working condition for the 
intended use. Following initial recognition, PPE are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation 
and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as separate assets, as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that the future economic benefits associated with expenditure 
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. When significant parts of 
property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such 
components separately and depreciates them based on their specific useful lives. All other repairs 
and maintenance are charged to Statement of Profit and Loss at the time of incurrence.

Gains or losses arising from de-recognition of PPE are measured as the difference between the 
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognized in the statement 
of profit and loss when the asset is derecognized.

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated on a written down value method using 
the rates arrived at based on the useful lives estimated by the management which are in line with 
the useful lives prescribed in Schedule II of the Companies Act, 2013.

The Group has used the following useful lives to provide depreciation on its PPE.

The useful lives, residual values and depreciation method of PPE are reviewed, and adjusted 
appropriately, at-least as at each reporting date so as to ensure that the method and period of 
depreciation are consistent with the expected pattern of economic benefits from these assets. The 
effects of any change in the estimated useful lives, residual values and / or depreciation method are 
accounted prospectively, and accordingly the depreciation is calculated over the PPE’s remaining 
revised useful life. The cost and the accumulated depreciation for PPE sold, scrapped, retired or 
otherwise disposed off are derecognised from the balance sheet and the resulting gains / (losses) 
are included in the statement of profit and loss within other expenses / other income.

Particulars

Computers
Office equipment
Furniture and fixtures

Years

3 to 6
5
10
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2.5 Intangible assets

Identifiable intangible assets are recognised when the Group controls the asset, it is probable that 
future economic benefits attributed to the asset will flow to the Group and the cost of the asset 
can be measured reliably.

Intangible assets are measured on initial recognition at cost. Following initial recognition, intangible 
assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses, if 
any.

Intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful economic life. 
The Group amortizes intangible assets (Technology related costs and software) over the best 
estimate of its useful life which is 3-5 years.

The Group has recognised certain intangible assets on acquisition of entity (Refer Note 44). The 
table below shows the values and lives of intangibles recognised on acquisition:

The costs related to planning and post implementation phases of development are expensed as 
incurred. Expenditure on research activities are recognized in the Statement of Profit and Loss as 
incurred.

Development activities relate to production of new or substantially improved products and 
processes. Development expenditure incurred on an individual project is recognized as an 
intangible asset when the Group can demonstrate all the following:

•	 The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or 
sale.

•	 Its intention to complete the asset and its ability and intention to use or sell the asset.
•	 How the asset will generate future economic benefits.
•	 The availability of adequate resources to complete the development and to use or sell the asset.
•	 The ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during 

development.

The amortization period and the amortization method are reviewed at least at each financial 
year/period end. If the expected useful life of the asset is significantly different from previous 
estimates, the amortization period is changed accordingly. If there has been a significant changein 
the expected pattern of economic benefits from the asset, the amortization method is changed 
to reflect the changed pattern. Such changes are accounted prospectively in accordance with Ind 
AS 8 - Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors.

Particulars

Software 
Domain names and Trademarks 
Non-Compete Agreement

Years

7
3
3
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Gains or losses arising from de-recognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognized in 
the statement of profit and loss when the asset is derecognized.

2.6 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that are subject to depreciation and amortization are reviewed for impairment, whenever 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable 
or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required. Such circumstances include, though 
are not limited to, significant or sustained decline in revenues or earnings and material adverse 
changes in the economic environment.

An impairment loss is recognized whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating 
unit exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its fair 
value less costs to sell and value in use. To calculate value in use, the estimated future cash flows 
are discounted to their present value using a pre- tax discount rate that reflects current market 
rates and the risks specific to the asset. For an asset that does not generate largely independent 
cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the 
asset belongs. Fair value less costs to sell is the price that would be received to sell an asset or 
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants, less the costs of 
disposal.

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually at year end and when circumstances indicate that the 
carrying value may be impaired.

Impairment is determined for goodwill by assessing the recoverable amount of CGU to which the 
goodwill relates. When the recoverable amount of the CGU is less than it’s carrying amount, an 
impairment loss is recognised.

2.7 Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the 
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange 
for consideration.

Where the Group is the lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-
term leases and leases of low-value assets. The Group recognizes lease liabilities to make lease 
payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets.
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A. Right-of-use assets

The Group recognizes right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the 
underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease 
liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognized, initial 
direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any 
lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the 
lease term.

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group at the end of the lease term or the cost 
reflects the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful 
life of the asset.

The right-of-use assets are also subject to impairment. Refer to the accounting policies in section 
2.9 Impairment of non-financial assets.

B. Lease Liabilities

At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognizes lease liabilities measured at the 
present value of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include 
fixed payments (including in substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, 
variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid 
under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase 
option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for terminating 
the lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate. Variable lease 
payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognized as expenses (unless they are 
incurred to produce inventories) in the period in which the event or condition that triggers the 
payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses its incremental borrowing 
rate at the lease commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily 
determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect 
the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying 
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a 
change in the lease payments (e.g., changes to future payments resulting from a change in an 
index or rate used to determine such lease payments) or a change in the assessment of an option 
to purchase the underlying asset.

C. Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of 
machinery and equipment (i.e., those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the 
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the lease of low-value 
assets recognition exemption to leases of office equipment that are considered to be low value.
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Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognized as expense 
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Where the Group is the lessor

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership of an asset are classified as operating leases. Rental income arising is accounted for on 
a straight-line basis over the lease terms. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging 
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognized over the 
lease term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognized as revenue in the 
period in which they are earned.

2.8 Borrowing cost

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset 
that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are 
capitalized as part of the cost of the respective asset. All other borrowing costs are expensed in 
the period they occur. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in 
connection with the borrowing of funds. Borrowing cost also includes exchange differences to the 
extent regarded as an adjustment to the borrowing costs.

2.9 Financial instruments

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial 
liability or equity instrument of another entity.

(i) Financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

All financial assets are recognized initially at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable 
to the acquisition of financial assets (other than financial assets at fair value through profit or loss) 
are added to the fair value measured on initial recognition of financial asset. Purchase and sale of 
financial assets are accounted for at settlement date.

Subsequent measurement

The Group determines the classification of its financial instruments at initial recognition. Financial 
assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value 
through other comprehensive income (OCI), and fair value through profit or loss.
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Financial assets at amortized cost

A financial instrument is measured at the amortized cost if both the following conditions are met:

a) The asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets for collecting 
contractual cash flows, and

b) Contractual terms of the asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments 
of principal and interest (SPPI) on the principal amount outstanding.

After initial measurement, such financial assets are subsequently measured at amortized cost 
using the effective interest rate (EIR) method. Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account 
any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The 
EIR amortization is included in other income in the statement of profit and loss. The losses arising 
from impairment are recognized in the statement of profit and loss. This category includes cash 
and bank balances, loans, unbilled revenue, trade and other receivables.

Financial assets at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income (‘FVTOCI’)

A financial instrument is classified and measured at fair value through OCI if both of the following 
criteria are met:

a) The objective of the business model is achieved both by collecting contractual cash flows and 
selling the financial assets, and

b) The asset’s contractual cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest.

Financial instruments included within the OCI category are measured initially as well as at each 
reporting date at fair value. Fair value movements are recognized in OCI. On derecognition of the 
asset, cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in OCI is reclassified from OCI to statement 
of profit and loss.

Financial assets at Fair Value through Profit and Loss (‘FVTPL’)

Any financial instrument, which does not meet the criteria for categorization at amortized cost or 
at fair value through other comprehensive income, is classified at fair value through profit and loss. 
Financial instruments included in the fair value through profit and loss category are measured at 
fair value with all changes recognized in the statement of profit and loss.

Equity investments

All equity investments in scope of Ind AS 109 are measured at fair value. Equity instruments which 
are held for trading are classified as at FVTPL. For all other equity instruments, the Group may 
make an irrevocable.
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Election to present in other comprehensive income subsequent changes in the fair value. The 
Group makes such election on an instrument-by-instrument basis. The classification is made on 
initial recognition and is irrevocable.

If the Group decides to classify an equity instrument as at FVTOCI, then all fair value changes 
on the instrument, excluding dividends, are recognized in the OCI. There is no recycling of the 
amounts from OCI to P&L, even on sale of investment.

Equity instruments included within the FVTPL category are measured at fair value with all changes 
recognized in the statement of profit & loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset is primarily derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the asset 
have expired, or the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognizes loss allowances using the expected credit loss (ECL) model for the financial 
assets which are not fair valued through profit and loss. Lifetime ECL allowance is recognized for 
trade receivables with no significant financing component. For all other financial assets, expected 
credit losses are measured at an amount equal to the 12-month ECL, unless there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk from initial recognition in which case they are measured at lifetime 
ECL. The amount of expected credit losses (or reversal) that is required to adjust the loss allowance 
at the reporting date is recognized in the statement of profit and loss.

The Group follows simplified approach for recognition of impairment loss allowance on trade 
receivables. The application of simplified approach does not require the Group to track changes in 
credit risk. Rather, it recognizes impairment loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting 
date, right from its initial recognition.

ii) Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

All financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value. The Group’s financial liabilities include 
trade payables and other payables.

Subsequent measurement

After initial recognition, financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the 
effective interest rate (EIR) method. Gains and losses are recognized in the statement of profit and 
loss when the liabilities are derecognized as well as through the EIR amortization process.

Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and 
fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortization is included as finance costs 
in the statement of profit and loss.
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Financial liabilities at amortised cost (Loans and borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the EIR method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the 
liabilities are derecognised as well as through the EIR amortisation process. Amortised cost is 
calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that 
are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance costs in the statement of 
profit and loss.

This category generally applies to borrowings. For more information refer Note 17.

Derecognition

A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled 
or expires.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the balance 
sheet if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is 
an intention to settle on a net basis, to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

2.10 Revenue from contract with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of the goods or services 
are transferred to the customer at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group 
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that economic benefits will flow to the Group 
and revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration 
received or receivable, taking into account contractually defined terms of payment and excluding 
taxes and duty.

The Group assesses its revenue arrangement against specific criteria in order to determine if it is 
acting as principal or agent. The Group has concluded that it is acting as agent in case of sale of 
airline tickets, Train Tickets and Bus Tickets as the supplier is primarily responsible for providing the 
underlying travel services and the Group does not control the service provided by the supplier to 
the traveller. Traveller is also referred as end user.

Income from services

A. Ticketing revenue
Convenience fees from reservation of rail tickets, airlines tickets and bus tickets is recognized on 
earned basis, as the Company does not assume any performance obligation post the confirmation 
of the issuance of the ticket to the customer.
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Commission income earned from air ticketing and bus ticketing services is recognized on a net 
basis as an agent on the date of completion of performance obligation by the Company which is 
date of issuance of ticket in case of sale of airline/bus tickets.

Revenue from free cancellations option given to the traveller is recognized on actual cancellations. 

Amounts paid to the traveller as benefit are included under customer refunds in other expenses.

The Company has measured the revenue in respect of its performance obligation of a contract at 
its standalone selling price. The price that is regularly charged for an item when sold separately is 
the best evidence of its standalone selling price.

The specific recognition criteria described below is also considered before revenue is recognised.

Cost incurred on ticketing revenue from third party is recorded as distribution cost/Partner 
support cost.

B. Advertisement Services

The revenue from the advertising services rendered is recognized when the services have been 
rendered, the price is fixed or determinable and collectability is reasonably assured.

Advertisement Referral - Revenue is derived primarily from click-through fees charged to travel 
partners for traveller leads sent to the travel partner’s website. In certain contracts revenue is 
recognized on actual bookings made on travel partner’s website by the traveller for leads referred 
by the Company.

Advertisement Revenue - Display advertising revenue is recognized rateably over the advertising 
period or upon delivery of advertising impressions, depending on the terms of the advertising 
contract.

C. Technical and other support fee 

(i) API Services

The Group has entered contracts with on-line platform companies, where, the Group provides 
back-end support with regard to real-time updates on travel information. These contracts are 
short-term contracts and the revenue is recognised, as and when, the services are provided by 
the Group as per the terms and conditions stipulated in the agreements entered.

(ii) Revenue from Maintenance and software development

Revenue is primarily derived from software development and related services. Arrangements with 
customers for software development and related services are on a fixed price basis.
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The Group recognises revenue from contracts with customers, when it satisfies a performance 
obligation by transferring promised good or service to a customer. The revenue is recognised to 
the extent of transaction price allocated to the performance obligation satisfied. Performance 
obligation is satisfied over time, when the transfer of control of asset (good or service) to a 
customer is done over time and in other cases, performance obligation is satisfied at a point in 
time. 

Transaction price is allocated to each performance obligation based on relative stand-alone selling 
prices, in case, contract contains more than one distinct good or service.

Transaction price is the amount of consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in 
exchange for transferring good or service to a customer excluding amounts collected on behalf of 
a third party. Variable consideration is estimated using the expected value method or most likely 
amount as appropriate in a given circumstance. Payment terms agreed with a customer are as per 
business practice and there is no financing component involved in the transaction price.

For performance obligation satisfied over time, revenue is recongnised as performance under the 
arrangements using percentage of completion based on costs incurred relative to total expected 
costs. The differences between the timing of revenue recognised (based on costs incurred) and 
customer billings (based on contractual terms) results in changes to revenue in excess of billing or 
billing in excess of revenue.

(iii) Income from facilation

Revenue earned for facilitating website access to travel insurance companies are being recognized 
as the services are being performed.

Income from technical support fee is recognized on accrual basis as services are rendered as per 
the terms specified in the service contracts.

Revenue is recognized net of allowances for cancellations, refunds during the period and taxes.

Revenue is allocated between the loyalty program and the other components of the sale. The 
amount allocated to the loyalty program is deferred and is recognized as revenue when the 
Company fulfills its obligations to supply the products/services under the terms of the program.

The Company also incurs customer inducement and acquisition costs for acquiring customers and 
promoting transactions across various booking platforms such as upfront cash incentives which 
were incurred are recorded as a reduction from revenue.

Interest Income

For all debt instruments measured at amortized cost, interest income is recorded using the 
effective interest rate (EIR). Other interest income is recognized on a time proportion basis taking 
into account the amount outstanding and the interest rate applicable.
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Contract balances

Contract assets

A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange for goods or services transferred to 
the customer. If the Group performs by transferring goods or services to a customer before the 
customer pays consideration or before payment is due, a contract asset is recognised for the 
earned consideration that is conditional.

Trade Receivables 

A receivable represents the Group’s right to an amount of consideration that is unconditional 
(i.e., only the passage of time is required before payment of the consideration is due). Refer to 
accounting policies of financial assets in section (2.9) Financial instruments.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group 
has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer. If a customer 
pays consideration before the Group transfers goods or services to the customer, a contract liability 
is recognised when the payment is made or the payment is due (whichever is earlier). Contract 
liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the contract.

Refund liabilities

A refund liability is recognised for the obligation to refund some or all of the consideration received 
from the traveller. The Company’s refund liabilities arise from traveller’ right of return. The Company 
updates its estimates of refund liabilities (and the corresponding change in the transaction price) 
at the end of each reporting period.

2.11 Foreign currencies

The financial statements are presented in Indian Rupees which is the functional and presentational 
currency of the company. For each entity the Group determines the functional currency and items 
included in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency. 
The Group uses the direct method of consolidation and on disposal of a foreign operation the gain 
or loss that is reclassified to profit or loss reflects the amount that arises from using this method.

Transactions and balances

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded by the Group’s entities at their respective 
functional currency spot rates at the date the transaction first qualifies for recognition. However, 
for practical reasons, the Group uses an average rate if the average approximates the actual rate 
at the date of the transaction.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the functional 
currency spot rates of exchange at the reporting date.
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Exchange differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in 
profit or loss with the exception of the following:

•	 Exchange differences arising on monetary items that forms part of a reporting entity’s net 
investment in a foreign operation are recognised in profit or loss in the separate financial 
statements of the reporting entity or the individual financial statements of the foreign 
operation, as appropriate. In the financial statements that include the foreign operation and 
the reporting entity (e.g., consolidated financial statements when the foreign operation is 
a subsidiary), such exchange differences are recognised initially in OCI. These exchange 
differences are reclassified from equity to profit or loss on disposal of the net investment. 

•	 Exchange differences arising on monetary items that are designated as part of the hedge of 
the Group’s net investment of a foreign operation. These are recognised in OCI until the net 
investment is disposed of, at which time, the cumulative amount is reclassified to profit or loss. 

•	 Tax charges and credits attributable to exchange differences on those monetary items are also 
recorded in OCI.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are 
translated using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items 
measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date 
when the fair value is determined. The gain or loss arising on translation of non-monetary items 
measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on the change in fair 
value of the item (i.e., translation differences on items whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in 
OCI or profit or loss are also recognised in OCI or profit or loss, respectively).

Group companies

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into INR at the rate 
of exchange prevailing at the reporting date and their statements of profit or loss are translated 
at exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. For practical reasons, the Group 
uses an average rate to translate income and expense items, if the average rate approximates the 
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. The exchange differences arising on translation 
for consolidation are recognised in OCI. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of OCI 
relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising in the acquisition/ business combination of a foreign operation on or after 1 
April 2016 and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising 
on the acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the 
spot rate of exchange at the reporting date.

Any goodwill or fair value adjustments arising in business combinations/ acquisitions, which 
occurred before the date of transition to Ind AS (1 April 2016), are treated as assets and liabilities of 
the entity rather than as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation. Therefore, those assets and 
liabilities are non-monetary items already expressed in the functional currency of the parent and 
no further translation differences occur.
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Cumulative currency translation differences for all foreign operations are deemed to be zero 
at the date of transition, viz., 1 April 2016. Gain or loss on a subsequent disposal of any foreign 
operation excludes translation differences that arose before the date of transition but includes 
only translation differences arising after the transition date.

2.12 Employee benefits (Retirement & Other Employee benefits)

Retirement benefit in the form of Provident Fund is a defined contribution scheme and the Group 
has no obligation, other than the contribution payable to the provident fund. The Group recognizes 
contribution payable to the provident fund scheme as an expenditure, when an employee renders 
the related service. If the contribution payable to the scheme for service received before the 
balance sheet date exceeds the contribution already paid, the deficit payable to the scheme is 
recognized as a liability after deducting the contribution already paid.

The Group operates defined benefit plan for its employees, viz., gratuity. The costs of providing 
benefits under the plan are determined on the basis of actuarial valuation at each year-end. 
Actuarial valuation is carried out for using the projected unit credit method. In accordance with 
the local laws and regulations, all the employees in India are entitled for the Gratuity plan. The 
said plan requires a lump-sum payment to eligible employees (meeting the required vesting 
service condition) at retirement or termination of employment, based on a pre-defined formula. 
The obligation towards the said benefits is recognised in the balance sheet, at the present value 
of the defined benefit obligations less the fair value of plan assets (being the funded portion). 
The present value of the said obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash 
outflows, using interest rates of government bonds. The interest income / (expense) are calculated 
by applying the above-mentioned discount rate to the plan assets and defined benefit obligations 
liability. The net interest income / (expense) on the net defined benefit liability is recognised in the 
statement of profit and loss. However, the related re-measurements of the net defined benefit 
liability are recognised directly in the other comprehensive income in the period in which they 
arise. The said re-measurements comprise of actuarial gains and losses (arising from experience 
adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions), the return on plan assets (excluding interest). 
Re-measurements are not re-classified to the statement of profit and loss in any of the subsequent 
periods.

Accumulated leave, which is expected to be utilized within the next 12 months, is treated as short-
term employee benefit. The Group measures the expected cost of such absences as the additional 
amount that it expects to pay as a result of the unused entitlement that has accumulated at the 
reporting date.

The Group treats accumulated leave expected to be carried forward beyond twelve months, as 
long-term employee benefit for measurement purposes. Such long-term compensated absences 
are provided for based on the actuarial valuation using the projected unit credit method at the 
year-end. Actuarial gains/losses are immediately taken to the statement of profit and loss and are 
not deferred.
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The Group presents the leave as a current liability in the balance sheet, to the extent it does not 
have an unconditional right to defer its settlement for 12 months after the reporting date. Where 
Group has the unconditional legal and contractual right to defer the settlement for a period beyond 
12 months, the same is presented as non-current liability.

2.13 Share-based payments

Employees (including senior executives) of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share 
based payment transactions, whereby employees render services as consideration for equity 
instruments (equity-settled transactions).

The cost of equity-settled transactions is determined by the fair value at the date when the grant 
is made using an appropriate valuation model. Further details are given in Note 38.

That cost is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in share-based payment (SBP) 
reserves in equity, over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled 
in employee benefits expense. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions 
at each reporting date until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has 
expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. 
The expense or credit in the statement of profit and loss for a period represents the movement in 
cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period and is recognised in 
employee benefits expense.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into account when determining 
the grant date fair value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as 
part of the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. 
Market performance conditions are reflected within the grant date fair value. Any other conditions 
attached to an award, but without an associated service requirement, are considered to be non-
vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value of an award and lead to 
an immediate expensing of an award unless there are also service and/or performance conditions.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market performance 
and/or service conditions have not been met. Where awards include a market or non-vesting 
condition, the transactions are treated as vested irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting 
condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.

When the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, the minimum expense recognised is 
the grant date fair value of the unmodified award, provided the original vesting terms of the 
award are met. An additional expense, measured as at the date of modification, is recognised 
for any modification that increases the total fair value of the share-based payment transaction, 
or is otherwise beneficial to the employee. Where an award is cancelled by the entity or by the 
counterparty, any remaining element of the fair value of the award is expensed immediately 
through profit or loss.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation 
of diluted earnings per share.
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2.14 Income taxes

The income tax expense comprises of current and deferred income tax. Income tax is recognised 
in the statement of profit and loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in the 
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the related income tax is also 
recognised accordingly.

a. Current tax

The current tax is calculated on the basis of the tax rates, laws and regulations, which have been 
enacted or substantively enacted as at the reporting date. The payment made in excess / (shortfall) 
of the Group’s income tax obligation for the period are recognised in the balance sheet as current 
income tax assets / liabilities. Any interest, related to accrued liabilities for potential tax assessments 
are not included in Income tax charge or (credit), but are rather recognised within finance costs.

Current income tax assets and liabilities are off-set against each other and the resultant net 
amount is presented in the balance sheet, if and only when, (a) the Group currently has a legally 
enforceable right to set-off the current income tax assets and liabilities, and (b) when it relates 
to income tax levied by the same taxation authority and where there is an intention to settle the 
current income tax balances on net basis.

b. Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between 
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying values in the financial statements.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit 
will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The unrecognised deferred tax assets / carrying amount of deferred tax assets are reviewed at 
each reporting date for recoverability and adjusted appropriately.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part 
of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are re-assessed at each 
reporting date and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable 
profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the 
year when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have 
been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.
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2.15 Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the profit or loss for the period attributable 
to equity shareholders by the weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the 
period. The weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the period is adjusted 
for events such as bonus issue, bonus element in a rights issue, share split, and reverse share split 
(consolidation of shares) that have changed the number of equity shares outstanding, without a 
corresponding change in resources.

For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share, the net profit or loss for the period 
attributable to equity shareholders and the weighted average number of shares outstanding 
during the period are adjusted for the effects of all dilutive potential equity shares.

2.16 Provisions

A provision is recognized when the Group has a present obligation as a result of past event, it is 
probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle 
the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are 
not discounted to their present value if the effect of time value of money is not material and are 
determined based on the best estimate required to settle the obligation at the reporting date. 
These estimates are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best 
estimates.

Where the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance 
contract, the reimbursement is recognized as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement 
is virtually certain. The expense relating to any provision is presented in the statement of profit and 
loss net of any reimbursement.

2.17 Contingent liabilities

A disclosure for a contingent liability is made when there is a possible obligation or a present 
obligation that may, but probably will not, require an outflow of resources. When there is a possible 
obligation or a present obligation in respect of which the likelihood of outflow of resources is 
remote, no provision or disclosure is made. The Group does not recognize a contingent liability but 
discloses its existence in financial statements.

2.18 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and in hand and short-term deposits with an 
original maturity of three months or less (that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash 
and cash equivalents and subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value) and funds in transit. 
However, for the purpose of the statement of cash flows, in addition to above items, any bank 
overdrafts / cash credits that are integral part of the Group’s cash management, are also included 
as a component of cash and cash equivalents.
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2.19 Segment reporting policies

Identification of segments – Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the 
internal reporting provided to the Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM). Only those business 
activities are identified as operating segment for which the operating results are regularly reviewed 
by the CODM to make decisions about resource allocation and performance measurement. For 
details Refer Note 37.

Segment accounting policies – The Group prepares its segment information in conformity with the 
accounting policies adopted for preparing and presenting financial statements of the Group as a 
whole.

3. Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

The estimates used in the preparation of the said financial statements are continuously evaluated 
by the Group and are based on historical experience and various other assumptions and factors 
(including expectations of future events), that the Group believes to be reasonable under the 
existing circumstances. The said estimates are based on the facts and events, that existed as at the 
reporting date, or that occurred after that date but provide additional evidence about conditions 
existing as at the reporting date. Although the Group regularly assesses these estimates, actual 
results could differ materially from these estimates - even if the assumptions underlying such 
estimates were reasonable when made, if these results differ from historical experience or other 
assumptions do not turn out to be substantially accurate. The changes in estimates are recognized 
in the financial statements in the period in which they become known.

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at 
the reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described below. Actual results 
could differ from these estimates.

a. Fair value of financial instruments

When the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the balance sheet cannot 
be measured based on quoted prices in active markets, their fair value is measured using valuation 
techniques including the present valuation technique. The inputs to these models are taken from 
observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgement is required 
in establishing fair values. Judgements include considerations of inputs such as liquidity risk, credit 
risk and volatility. Changes in assumptions about these factors could affect the reported fair value 
of financial instruments. For details, refer to Note 40.

b. Taxes

Deferred tax assets are recognized for unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that 
taxable profit will be available against which the losses can be utilized. Significant management 
judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognized, 
based upon the likely timing and the level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning 
strategies.
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c. Allowance for uncollectible trade receivables and advances (Refer Note 11)

Trade receivables do not carry any interest and are stated at their nominal value as reduced by 
appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts. Estimated irrecoverable amounts 
are based on the ageing of the receivable balances and historical experience. Additionally, a large 
number of minor receivables is grouped into homogeneous groups and assessed for impairment 
collectively. Individual trade receivables are written off when management deems them not to be 
collectible are provided in Note 11.

d. Defined benefit plans

The costs of post retirement benefit obligation under the Gratuity plan are determined using 
actuarial valuations. An actuarial valuation involves making various assumptions that may differ 
from actual developments in the future. These include the determination of the discount rate, 
future salary increase, mortality rates and future pension increases. Due to the complexities 
involved in the valuation and its long term nature, a defined benefit obligation is highly sensitive to 
changes in these assumptions. All assumptions are reviewed at each reporting date. For details, 
refer to Note 34.

e. Business combination

In accounting for business combinations, judgment is required in identifying whether an identifiable 
intangible asset is to be recorded separately from goodwill. Additionally, estimating the acquisition 
date fair value of the identifiable assets acquired (including useful life estimates), liabilities assumed, 
and contingent consideration assumed involves management judgment. These measurements 
are based on information available at the acquisition date and are based on expectations and 
assumptions that have been deemed reasonable by management. Changes in these judgments, 
estimates, and assumptions can materially affect the results of operations.

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated. They are based on historical experience and 
other factors, including expectations of future events that may have a financial impact on the 
group and that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

f. Contingencies

The management judgement of contingencies is based on the internal assessments and opinion 
from the consultants for possible outflow of resources, if any.
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3.1 Standard notified but yet effective

Ministry of Corporate Affairs (“MCA”) notifies new standards or amendments to the existing 
standards under Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules as issued from time to time. On 
March 31, 2023, MCA amended the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Amendment Rules, 
2023, as below:

(i) Ind AS 1 - Presentation of Financial Statements
This amendment requires the entities to disclose their material accounting policies rather than 
their significant accounting policies. The effective date for adoption of this amendment is annual 
periods beginning on or after April 1, 2023. The Group has evaluated the amendment and the 
impact of the amendment is insignificant in the consolidated financial statements.

(ii) Ind AS 8 - Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors
This amendment has introduced a definition of ‘accounting estimates’ and included amendments 
to Ind AS 8 to help entities distinguish changes in accounting policies from changes in accounting 
estimates. The effective date for adoption of this amendment is annual periods beginning on or after 
April 1, 2023. The Group has evaluated the amendment and there is no impact on its consolidated 
financial statements.

(iii) Ind AS 12 - Income Taxes
This amendment has narrowed the scope of the initial recognition exemption so that it does not 
apply to transactions that give rise to equal and offsetting temporary differences. The effective date 
for adoption of this amendment is annual periods beginning on or after April 1, 2023. The Group has 
evaluated the amendment and there is no impact on its consolidated financial statement.
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Notice of
Seventeenth AGM

LE TRAVENUES TECHNOLOGY LIMITED
Registered Office: Second Floor, Veritas Building, Sector - 53,

Golf Course Road, Gurugram - 122 002, Haryana, India.
CIN: U63000HR2006PLC071540; Tel: +91 - 124 - 6682111

Email: secretarial@ixigo.com Website: https://www.ixigo.com/

NOT IC E

NOTICE is hereby given that seventeenth annual general meeting of the members (“AGM”) of Le 
Travenues Technology Limited (the “Company”) will be held on Friday, September 29, 2023 at 12:30 
P.M. (IST) through Video Conferencing (“VC”) / Other Audio-Visual Means (“OAVM”) facility i.e., 
e-AGM via InStaMEET by Link Intime India Private Limited, to transact the following business:

ORDINARY BUSINESS:

1. To receive, consider and adopt audited financial statements (including consolidated financial 
statements) of the Company for the financial year ended March 31, 2023, and the Reports of the 
Board of Directors and the Auditors thereon.

2. To appoint a director in place of Mr. Ravi Chandra Adusumalli (DIN: 00253613), who retires by 
rotation and being eligible, offers himself for re-appointment.

SPECIAL BUSINESS:

3. To consider alteration in the object clause of the memorandum of association of Le Travenues 
Technology Limited and if thought fit, to pass, with or without modification(s), the following 
resolution as a Special Resolution:

“RESOLVED THAT pursuant to the provisions of Sections 13 and other applicable provisions, if any of 
the Companies Act, 2013, read with the rules made thereunder, the provisions of the Memorandum 
of Association and Articles of Association of the Company, consent of the shareholders be and is 
hereby granted to amend Clause III, Part (b) Matters which are necessary for furtherance of the 
objects specified in clause III (a), by addition of sub-clause 49 as set out below after sub-clause 48 
of the Memorandum of Association

“49   To borrow or raise money with or without security or to receive money on deposit at interest 
or otherwise, in such a manner and upon such terms as the Company may think fit and in particular 
by the issue of debentures or debenture stock-perpetual or otherwise including debenture or 
debenture stock convertible into shares of this or any other company and in the security of any such 
sums of money to be borrowed, raised or received, to mortgage, pledge or charge the whole or 
any part of the property, assets or revenue of the Company present or future, including its uncalled 
capital and to purchase, redeem or pay off any such securities.”
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RESOLVED FURTHER THAT the board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) be and is 
hereby authorised to do all such acts, deeds, matters and things as may be necessary, proper or 
expedient, to give effect to this resolution (including but not limited to carrying out such other 
changes in the memorandum of association of the Company as may be required by the authority 
giving its approval without being required to seek any further consent or approval of the members 
of the Company and it shall be deemed that the members shall have given their approval thereto 
expressly by the authority of this resolution) for alteration in the object clause of the memorandum 
of association of the Company and the Board may, by a resolution delegate the aforementioned 
power to any committee of directors, director or any other principal officer of the Company on 
such conditions as the Board may prescribe.”

4. To consider re-designation of Mr. Frederic Lalonde (DIN: 00739136) as Non-Executive Director 
of Le Travenues Technology Limited and if thought fit, to pass, with or without modification(s), the 
following resolution as an Ordinary Resolution:

“RESOLVED THAT pursuant to the applicable provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 read with 
the rules made thereunder and as recommended by the board of directors, consent of the 
shareholders be and is hereby granted for re-designating Mr. Frederic Lalonde (DIN: 00739136) as 
Non-Executive Director of Le Travenues Technology Limited effective July 13, 2023.

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT the board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) be and is hereby 
authorised to do all such acts, deeds, matters, and things as may be necessary, proper, or expedient, 
to give effect to this resolution and the Board may, by a resolution delegate the aforementioned 
power to any committee of directors, director or any other principal officer of the Company on 
such conditions as the Board may prescribe.”

By order of the Board of Directors
For Le Travenues Technology Limited

Sd/-
Aloke Bajpai
(Chairman, Managing Director & Group CEO)
DIN: 00119037
Second Floor, Veritas Building, Sector - 53,
Golf Course Road, Gurugram - 122002, 
Haryana, India

Date : July 13, 2023
Place : Gurugram
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NOT E S

1. In view of outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic, the Ministry of Corporate Affairs (‘MCA’) had via 
General Circular No. 20/2020 dated May 05, 2020, and General Circular No. 10/2022 dated 
December 28, 2022 (collectively ‘MCA Circulars’), permitted companies to conduct Annual General 
Meeting through video conferencing (‘VC’) or Other Audio-Visual Means (‘OAVM’). In compliance 
with the MCA Circulars and applicable provisions of the Act, the Annual General Meeting of the 
Company (‘AGM”) is being convened and conducted through VC / OAVM i.e., e-AGM via InStaMEET 
by Link Intime India Private Limited, without the physical presence of the Members at a common 
venue. The deemed venue for the AGM shall be the Registered Office of the Company. Since the 
AGM will be held through VC/ OAVM Facility, the Route Map is not annexed in this Notice.

2. For convening the AGM through VC / OAVM, necessary arrangements have been made by the 
Company with Link Intime India Private Limited (“LIIPL”) and instructions for the process to be 
followed for attending and participating in the AGM forms part of this Notice.

3. Pursuant to the provisions of Section 108 of the Act read with Rule 20 of the Companies 
(Management and Administration) Rules, 2014 (as amended) and MCA Circulars, the Company is 
providing facility of remote e-voting and e-voting during AGM, to its Members in respect of the 
businesses to be transacted at the AGM.

For this purpose, necessary arrangements have been made by the Company with LIIPL to facilitate 
remote e-voting and e-voting during AGM. The instructions for the process to be followed for 
remote e-voting and e-voting during AGM forms part of this Notice.

4. Pursuant to the provisions of the Act, a member entitled to attend, and vote is entitled to appoint 
a proxy to attend and vote instead of himself and the proxy need not be a member of the Company. 
Since the AGM is being convened pursuant to MCA Circulars through VC/OAVM facility, physical 
attendance of members has been dispensed with. Accordingly, the facility for appointment of 
proxies by the members will not be available for the AGM and hence the Proxy Form and Attendance 
Slip are not annexed to this Notice.

5. The attendance of the members attending the AGM through VC/OAVM will be counted for the 
purpose of ascertaining the quorum under Section 103 of the Companies Act, 2013.

6. Pursuant to Section 113 of the Act, representatives of Institutional / Corporate Members (i.e., 
other than individuals / HUF, NRI, etc.) may be appointed for the purpose of voting through remote 
e-voting or for participation and voting during the AGM to be conducted through VC / OAVM. 
Corporate Members intending to vote or attend the AGM through their authorised representatives 
are requested to send a certified true copy of the resolution of the board / governing body and 
power of attorney, (PDF / JPG Format), authorizing its representative to attend and vote on their 
behalf at the AGM. The said resolution / authorisation shall be sent to the Company by e-mail 
through registered e-mail address of the corporate member at secretarial@ixigo.com with a copy 
to enotices@linkintime.co.in
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7. The facility for joining the AGM through VC / OAVM will be opened 15 minutes before the 
scheduled start time of the AGM i.e.,12:15 P.M. (IST)

8. In compliance with MCA Circulars, Notice of the AGM along with the Annual Report for FY 2022-23 
is being sent only through electronic mode to those Members whose name appear in the Register 
of Members / Beneficial Owners maintained by the Depositories as on Tuesday, September 05, 
2023 and whose email addresses are registered with the Company / Depositories. Members may 
note that the Notice will also be available on the website of the Company i.e., https://www.ixigo.
com/ and on the website of LIIPL at https://instavote.linkintime.co.in

9. Manner of registering / updating e-mail address: Members whose email address is not registered, 
are requested to get the same registered / updated through the following procedure:

a) Members holding shares in dematerialised mode can get their email address registered / 
updated only by contacting their respective Depository Participant.

b) Members holding shares in physical mode may register / update their email address with the 
RTA by writing to them at enotices@linkintime.co.in.

10. All documents referred to in the notice and the register of directors and key managerial 
personnel and their shareholding maintained under Section 170 of the Act will be available for 
inspection in electronic mode. The Members may inspect the same by sending an e-mail to the 
Company at secretarial@ixigo.com.

11. The Company has appointed Mr. Surya Kant Gupta, Practicing Company Secretary (Membership 
No. F9250) as the Scrutinizer for scrutinizing the remote e-voting and e-voting process to ensure 
that the process is carried out in a fair and transparent manner.

12. The Member whose name appears in the Register of Members / Beneficial Owners maintained 
by the Depositories as on cut-off date i.e., Friday, September 22, 2023 will only be considered for 
the purpose of remote e-voting and e-voting.

13. The remote e-voting facility commences on Tuesday, September 26, 2023 at 9:00 A.M. (IST) and 
ends on Thursday, September 28, 2023 at 5:00 P.M. (IST). The remote e-voting shall be disabled by 
LIIPL after aforesaid period.

14. The register of members and share transfer books of the Company will remain closed from 
Saturday, September 23, 2023 to Friday, September 29, 2023 (both days inclusive).

15. Voting rights shall be reckoned on the paid-up value of shares registered in the name of 
Members / Beneficial Owners maintained by the Depositories as on the cut-off date i.e., Friday, 
September 22, 2023.

16. In case of joint holders, the Member whose name appears as the first holder in the order of 
names as per the register of members of the Company will be entitled to vote at the AGM.
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17. The Members attending the AGM who are entitled to vote but have not exercised their right 
to vote through remote e-voting, may vote during the AGM through e-voting for all businesses 
specified in the accompanying Notice. The Members who have exercised their right to vote by 
remote e-voting may attend the AGM but shall not vote at the AGM.

18. Members who are holding shares in physical form or who have not registered their email address 
with the Company / Depository or any person who acquires shares of the Company and becomes 
a Member of the Company after the Notice has been sent electronically by the Company, and holds 
shares as of the cut-off date, i.e. Friday, September 22, 2023, may obtain the User ID and password 
by sending a request at enotices@linkintime.co.in However, if a Member is already registered with 
LIIPL for remote e-voting and e-voting then existing User ID and password can be used for casting 
vote.

19. A person who is not a Member as on the cut-off date i.e., Friday, September 22, 2023 should 
treat this Notice for information purpose only.

20. Members can avail the facility of nomination in respect of the equity shares held by them 
in physical form pursuant to the provisions of Section 72 of the Act read with rules thereunder. 
Members desiring to avail this facility may send their nomination in Form SH-13 duly filled in, to the 
Company. Further, members desirous of cancelling / varying nomination pursuant to the provisions 
of the Act are requested to send their requests in Form SH-14 to the Company. These forms will be 
made available on request.

21. Additional Information of director seeking re-appointment at the AGM, as required under Clause 
1.2.5 of Secretarial Standard - 2 on General Meetings (“SS-2”), is annexed to the Notice.

22. All grievances connected with the facility for voting by electronic means may be addressed to 
Mr. Rajiv Ranjan, Assistant Vice President - evoting, LIIPL, C - 101, 1st Floor, 247 Park, Lal Bahadur 
Shastri Marg, Vikhroli (West), Mumbai - 400 083; Helpdesk: 022 - 49186000 / 49186175; E-mail: 
enotices@linkintime.co.in.

23. The Scrutinizer shall, after the conclusion of AGM, submit the consolidated scrutinizer’s report 
(i.e., votes cast through remote e-voting and e-voting during AGM) to the Chairman of AGM after 
completion of scrutiny and the results will be announced by the Chairman or any other person 
authorised by the Chairman. Based on the Scrutinizer’s report, the result will be declared not later 
than three days of conclusion of AGM and the details of result along with Scrutinizer’s Report will 
be placed on the website of the Company at https://www.ixigo.com/ and on the website of LIIPL at 
https://instavote.linkintime.co.in.
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INSTRUCTIONS FOR E-VOTING AND PROCESS AND MANNER FOR JOINING THE ANNUAL 
GENERAL MEETING THROUGH VC/ OAVM ARE AS FOLLOWS:

A. REMOTE E-VOTING INSTRUCTIONS:

Individual members holding securities in demat mode can register directly with the depository or 
will have the option of accessing various ESP portals directly from their demat accounts.

1. Login method for Individual members holding securities in demat mode is given below:

i. Individual members holding securities in demat mode with NSDL

a) Existing IDeAS user can visit the e-Services website of NSDL viz... https://eservices.nsdl.com 
either on a personal computer or on a mobile. On the e-Services home page click on the “Beneficial 
Owner” icon under “Login” which is available under ‘IDeAS’ section, this will prompt you to enter 
your existing User ID and Password. After successful authentication, you will be able to see e-Voting 
services under Value added services. Click on “Access to e-Voting” under e-Voting services and 
you will be able to see e-voting page. Click on company name or e-voting service provider name 
i.e. LINKINTIME and you will be re-directed to “InstaVote” website for casting your vote during the 
remote e-Voting period.

b) If you are not registered for IDeAS e-Services, option to register is available at https://eservices.
nsdl.com Select “Register Online for IDeAS Portal” or click at https://eservices.nsdl.com/
SecureWeb/IdeasDirectReg.jsp.

c) Alternatively, the user can directly access the e-Voting website of NSDL. Open web browser 
by typing the following URL: https://www.evoting.nsdl.com either on a personal computer or on 
a mobile. Once the home page of e-Voting system is launched, click on the icon “Login” which 
is available under ‘Shareholder/Member’ section. A new screen will open. You will have to enter 
your User ID (i.e., your sixteen-digit demat account number held with NSDL), Password/OTP and a 
Verification Code as shown on the screen. After successful authentication, you will be redirected 
to NSDL Depository site wherein you can see e-Voting page. Click on company name or e-Voting 
service provider name i.e., LINKINTIME and you will be redirected to “InstaVote” website for casting 
your vote during the remote e-Voting period.

ii. Individual members holding securities in demat mode with CDSL

a) Existing users who have opted for Easi / Easiest, can login through their user id and password. 
Option will be made available to reach e-Voting page without any further authentication. The URL 
for users to login to Easi / Easiest are https://web.cdslindia.com/myeasi/home/login or www.
cdslindia.com and click on New System Myeasi.

b) After successful login of Easi/Easiest the user will be able to see the E Voting Menu. The Menu 
will have links to an e-Voting service provider i.e., LINKINTIME. Click on LINKINTIME and you will be 
redirected to “InstaVote” website for casting your vote during the remote e-Voting period. 
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c) If the user is not registered for Easi/Easiest, option to register is available at https://web.cdslindia.
com/myeasi/Registration/EasiRegistration.

d) Alternatively, the user can directly access e-Voting page by providing demat account number 
and PAN from a link available at www.cdslindia.com home page. The system will authenticate the 
user by sending OTP on registered mobile and email as recorded in the demat account. After 
successful authentication, the user will be provided links for the respective ESP i.e., LINKINTIME. 
Click on LINKINTIME and you will be redirected to “InstaVote” website for casting your vote during 
the remote e-Voting period.

iii. Individual members (holding securities in demat mode) login through their depository 
participants

You can also login using the login credentials of your demat account through your Depository 
Participant registered with NSDL/CDSL for e-Voting facility. Upon logging in, you will be able to see 
e-Voting option. Click on e-Voting option, you will be redirected to NSDL / CDSL Depository site 
after successful authentication, wherein you can see e-Voting feature. Click on company name or 
e-Voting service provider name i.e., LINKINTIME and you will be redirected to “InstaVote” website 
for casting your vote during the remote e-Voting period. 

2. Login method for Individual members holding securities in physical form / non-Individual 
members holding securities in demat mode is given below:

Individual members, holding shares in physical form / non-individual members holding securities 
in demat mode as on the cut-off date for e-voting may register for e-Voting facility of Link Intime 
as under:

i. Open the internet browser and launch the URL: https://instavote.linkintime.co.in
ii. Click on “Sign Up” under ‘SHARE HOLDER’ tab and register with your following details:

A. User ID:
Members holding shares in physical form shall provide Event No + Folio Number registered with 
the Company. Members holding shares in NSDL demat account shall provide 8 Character DP ID 
followed by 8 Digit Client ID; Members holding shares in CDSL demat account shall provide 16 Digit 
Beneficiary ID.

B. PAN:
Enter your 10-digit Permanent Account Number (PAN) (Members who have not updated their PAN 
with the Depository Participant (DP) / Company shall use the sequence number provided to you, 
if applicable.

C. DOB/DOI:
Enter the Date of Birth (DOB) / Date of Incorporation (DOI) (As recorded with your DP / Company 
- in DD/MM/YYYY format).

D. Bank Account Number:
Enter your Bank Account Number (last four digits), as recorded with your DP/Company.
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*Members holding shares in physical form but have not recorded ‘C’ and ‘D’, shall provide their Folio number in ‘D’ above

*Members holding shares in NSDL form, shall provide ‘D’ above

•	 Set the password of your choice (The password should contain minimum 8 characters, at least 
one special Character (@!#$&*), at least one numeral, at least one alphabet and at least one 
capital letter).

•	 Click “confirm” (Your password is now generated).

iii. Click on ‘Login’ under ‘SHARE HOLDER’ tab.
iv. Enter your User ID, Password and Image Verification (CAPTCHA) Code and click on ‘Submit’.

3. Cast your vote electronically:

i. After successful login, you will be able to see the notification for e-voting. Select ‘View’ icon.
ii. E-voting page will appear.
iii. Refer the resolution description and cast your vote by selecting your desired option ‘Favour / 
Against’ (If you wish to view the entire resolution details, click on the ‘View Resolution’ file link).
iv. After selecting the desired option i.e., Favour / Against, click on ‘Submit’. A confirmation box will 
be displayed. If you wish to confirm your vote, click on ‘Yes’, else to change your vote, click on ‘No’ 
and accordingly modify your vote.

4. Guidelines for Institutional shareholders:

Institutional shareholders (i.e., other than Individuals, HUF, NRI etc.) and Custodians are required to 
log on the e-voting system of LIIPL at https://instavote.linkintime.co.in and register themselves as 
‘Custodian / Mutual Fund / Corporate Body’. They are also required to upload a scanned certified 
true copy of the board resolution / authority letter / power of attorney etc. together with attested 
specimen signature of the duly authorised representative(s) in PDF format in the ‘Custodian / 
Mutual Fund / Corporate Body’ login for the Scrutinizer to verify the same.

5. Helpdesk for Individual members holding securities in physical mode / Institutional 
shareholders:

Members facing any technical issue in login may contact Link Intime INSTAVOTE helpdesk by 
sending a request at enotices@linkintime.co.in or contact on: Tel: 022 - 4918 6000.

6. Helpdesk for Individual members holding securities in demat mode:

Individual members holding securities in demat mode may contact the respective helpdesk for 
any technical issues related to login through Depository i.e., NSDL and CDSL.
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7. Individual members holding securities in Physical mode has forgotten the password:

If an Individual members holding securities in Physical mode has forgotten the USER ID [Login ID] 
or Password or both then the shareholder can use the “Forgot Password” option available on the 
e-Voting website of Link Intime: https://instavote.linkintime.co.in.

i.Click on ‘Login’ under ‘SHARE HOLDER’ tab and further Click ‘forgot password?’
ii.Enter User ID, select Mode and Enter Image Verification code (CAPTCHA). Click on “SUBMIT”.

In case member is having valid email address, Password will be sent to his / her registered e-mail 
address. Shareholders can set the password of his/her choice by providing the information about 
the particulars of the Security Question and Answer, PAN, DOB/DOI, Bank Account Number (last 
four digits) etc. as mentioned above. The password should contain minimum 8 characters, at least 
one special character (@!#$&*), at least one numeral, at least one alphabet and at least one capital 
letter.

User ID for members holding shares in Physical Form (i.e., Share Certificate): Your User ID is Event 
No + Folio Number registered with the Company.

8. Individual members holding securities in demat mode with NSDL/CDSL has forgotten the 
password:

Members who are unable to retrieve User ID/ Password are advised to use Forget User ID and 
Forget Password option available at abovementioned depository / depository participants website.

•	 It is strongly recommended not to share your password with any other person and take utmost 
care to keep your password confidential.

•	 For shareholders/ members holding shares in physical form, the details can be used only for 
voting on the resolutions contained in this Notice.

•	 During the voting period, shareholders/ members can login any number of time till they have 
voted on the resolution(s) for a particular “Event”.

B. PROCESS AND MANNER FOR ATTENDING THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING THROUGH 
INSTAMEET:

1. Open the internet browser and launch the URL: https://instameet.linkintime.co.in and click on 
login.

2. Select the “Company” and ‘Event Date’ and register with your following details:
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i. Demat Account No. or Folio No: Enter your 16 digit Demat Account No. or Folio No.

ii. PAN: Enter your 10-digit Permanent Account Number (PAN) (Members who have not updated 
their PAN with the Depository Participant (DP) / Company shall use the sequence number provided 
to you, if applicable.

iii. Mobile No.: Enter your mobile number.

iv. Email ID: Enter your email id, as recorded with your DP / Company.

3. Click “Go to Meeting” (You are now registered for InstaMeet and your attendance is marked for 
the meeting).

4. The Members can join the AGM in the VC / OAVM mode 15 minutes before the scheduled time of 
the commencement of the AGM by following the procedure mentioned in the Notice. The facility 
of participation at the AGM through VC / OAVM will be made available to at least 1,000 members 
on first come first served basis. This will not include large Shareholders (Shareholders holding 2% 
or more shareholding), Promoters, Institutional Investors, Directors, Key Managerial Personnel, the 
Chairpersons of the Audit Committee, Nomination and Remuneration Committee and Stakeholders 
Relationship Committee, Auditors etc. who are allowed to attend the AGM without restriction on 
account of first come first served basis.

5. Please refer the instructions for the software requirements given in point ‘E’ below and kindly 
ensure to install the same on the device which would be used to attend the meeting. Please read 
the instructions carefully and participate in the meeting. You may also call upon the InstaMeet 
Support Desk for any support on the dedicated number provided to you in the instruction/ 
InstaMEET website.

C. Instructions for Members to speak during the AGM through InstaMeet:

1. The Members who would like to express their views / ask questions during the AGM must register 
themselves as a speaker by sending their request from their registered e-mail Id mentioning their 
name, demat account number / folio number, email id, PAN, mobile number at secretarial@ixigo.
com up to September 28, 2023, 05:00 P.M. (IST). Those Members who have registered themselves 
as a speaker will only be allowed to express their views / ask questions during the AGM.
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2. The Company reserves the right to restrict the number of questions and number of speakers, 
depending upon availability of time as appropriate for smooth conduct of the AGM.

3. Members will receive “speaking serial number” once they mark attendance for the meeting.

4. Other Members may ask questions to the panelist, via active chat-board during the meeting.

5. Please remember speaking serial number and start your conversation with panelist by switching 
on video and audio mode of your device.

6. Members are requested to speak only when moderator of the meeting / management will 
announce the name and serial number for speaking.

D. INSTRUCTIONS FOR MEMBERS TO VOTE DURING THE AGM THROUGH INSTAMEET:

1. Once the electronic voting is activated by the scrutinizer / moderator during the meeting, 
members who have not exercised their vote through the remote e-voting can cast the vote as 
under:

i. On the Shareholders VC page, click on the link for e-Voting “Cast your vote”.

ii. Enter your 16-digit Demat Account No. / Folio No. and OTP (received on the registered mobile 
number / registered email Id) received during registration for InstaMEET and click on ‘Submit’.

iii. After successful login, you will see “Resolution Description” and against the same the option 
“Favour” / “Against” for voting.

iv. Cast your vote by selecting appropriate option i.e., “Favour” / “Against” as desired. Enter the 
number of shares (which represents no. of votes) as on the cut-off date under “Favour” / “Against”.

v. After selecting the appropriate option i.e., Favour / Against as desired and you have decided to 
vote, click on “Save”. A confirmation box will be displayed. If you wish to confirm your vote, click on 
“Confirm”, else to change your vote, click on “Back” and accordingly modify your vote.

vi. Once you confirm your vote on the resolution, you will not be allowed to modify or change your 
vote subsequently.

Note: Members, who will be present in the AGM through InstaMeet facility and have not casted 
their vote on the Resolutions through Remote e-voting and are otherwise not barred from doing 
so, shall be eligible to vote through e-Voting facility during the meeting. Members who have voted 
through Remote e-voting prior to the AGM will be eligible to attend/ participate in the AGM through 
InstaMeet. However, they will not be eligible to vote again during the meeting.

2. Members are encouraged to join the Meeting through Tablets/ Laptops connected through 
broadband for better experience.
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3. Members are required to use the Internet with a good speed (preferably 2 MBPS download 
stream) to avoid any disturbance during the meeting.

4. Please note that Members connecting from Mobile Devices or Tablets or through Laptops 
connecting via Mobile Hotspot may experience Audio/Visual loss due to fluctuation in their 
network. It is therefore recommended to use stable Wi-Fi or LAN connection to mitigate any kind 
of aforesaid glitches.

5. In case members have any queries regarding login/ e-voting, they may send an email to 
instameet@linkintime.co.in or contact on 022 - 49186175.

E. INSTRUCTIONS FOR THE SOFTWARE REQUIREMENTS AND OTHER GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS

For a smooth experience of viewing the AGM proceedings of Link Intime India Private Limited 
InstaMEET, shareholders / members who are registered as speakers for the event are requested 
to download and install the Webex application in advance by following the instructions as under:

i. Please download and install the Webex application by clicking on the link https://www.webex.
com/downloads.html/ and join the meeting by clicking on Join Now.

OR

ii. You may join the meeting by following the process mentioned as under:

(a) If Webex application is not installed, a new page will appear giving you an option to either Add 
Webex to chrome or Run a temporary application.

(b) Click on Run a temporary application, an exe file will be downloaded. Click on this exe file to run 
the application and join the meeting by clicking on Join Now.
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Statement pursuant to Section 102(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 (the “Act”)

The following statement sets out all material facts relating to the Special Business mentioned in the 
accompanying notice.

Item No. 3

Alteration in the object clause of the memorandum of association of Le Travenues Technology 
Limited

The board of directors of the Company at its meeting held on July 13, 2023 recommended altering 
the memorandum of association of the Company to include a specific provisions in the Object 
Clause of the Company for enabling/ empowering the Company to borrow funds. In view of the 
same, it is proposed to amend Clause III, Part (b) Matters which are necessary for furtherance of 
the objects specified in clause III (a), by addition of sub-clause 49 as set out below after sub-clause 
48 of the Memorandum of Association.

“49 To borrow or raise money with or without security or to receive money on deposit at interest or 
otherwise, in such a manner and upon such terms as the Company may think fit and in particular 
by the issue of debentures or debenture stock-perpetual or otherwise including debenture or 
debenture stock convertible into shares of this or any other company and in the security of any such 
sums of money to be borrowed, raised or received, to mortgage, pledge or charge the whole or 
any part of the property, assets or revenue of the Company present or future, including its uncalled 
capital and to purchase, redeem or pay off any such securities.”

Pursuant to the provisions of Section 13 read with Sections 61 and 64 of the Companies Act, 2013, 
as amended, the amendment in object clause of the Memorandum of Association of the Company 
requires members’ approval by a Special resolution. Copy of the amended Memorandum of 
Association of the Company will be open for inspection by the Members in electronic mode up to 
the conclusion of the AGM in the manner as mentioned in the Notes to Notice.

In consideration of the above, the Board recommends the resolution set out in this notice at Item 
No. 3 for approval by the shareholders of the Company as a Special Resolution.

None of the Directors or Key Managerial Persons of the Company (including their relatives), 
except to the extent of their shareholding in the Company are concerned or interested in the said 
resolution.
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Item No. 4

Re-designation of Mr. Frederic Lalonde (DIN: 00739136) as Non-Executive Director of Le 
Travenues Technology Limited 

Rule 6 (4) of the Companies (Appointment and Qualification of Directors) Rules, 2014 provides 
that every individual whose name is included in the data bank for independent directors shall pass 
an online proficiency self-assessment test conducted by the Indian Institute of Corporate Affairs 
within two years from the date of inclusion of his name in the data bank. Alternatively, exemption 
is available from this mandatory requirement to directors who have served for a total period of not 
less than three years as a director of an unlisted public company having a paid-up share capital of 
rupees ten crore or more as on the date of inclusion of their name in the data bank.

Le Travenues Technology Limited became a public limited company effective July 29, 2021, and 
will be completing three years on July 29, 2024, as an unlisted public company having a paid-up 
share capital of rupees ten crore or more. Mr. Frederic Lalonde is the Director on the Board of the 
Company since the day it became public and will be completing three years of his directorship with 
an unlisted public company having a paid-up share capital of rupees ten crore or more on July 29, 
2024. Until then it is proposed to change the designation of Mr. Frederic Lalonde from Independent 
Director to Non-Executive Director of Le Travenues Technology Limited.

Accordingly, the approval of the members is sought for the change in the designation of Mr. 
Frederic Lalonde from Independent Director to Non- Executive Director of the Company.

Please refer the annexure for details as required to be provided in compliance with the requirements 
of Secretarial Standard - 2 issued by the Institute of Company Secretaries of India.

In consideration of the above, the Board recommends the resolution set out in this notice at Item 
No. 4 for approval by the shareholders of the Company as an Ordinary Resolution.

Except Mr. Frederic Lalonde, being appointee, none of the other Directors or Key Managerial 
Personnel of the Company and their relatives is concerned or interested, financially or otherwise, 
in the resolution set out at Item No. 4.

By order of the Board of Directors
For Le Travenues Technology Limited

Sd/-
Aloke Bajpai
(Chairman, Managing Director & Group CEO)
DIN: 00119037
Second Floor, Veritas Building, Sector - 53,
Golf Course Road, Gurugram - 122002, 
Haryana, India

Date : July 13, 2023
Place : Gurugram
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Annexure to Notice

Details of director seeking re-appointment as required for compliance with Secretarial 
Standard - 2 issued by the Institute of Company Secretaries of India
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